

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

3-5-2024

Social Workers, Positive Behavior Interventions Supports, and **Exclusionary Discipline of Black Males**

Jacqueline Binion Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Social Work Commons

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Jacqueline Binion

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Mary Larscheid, Committee Chairperson, Social Work Faculty
Dr. Monica Levine-Sauberman, Committee Member, Social Work Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2024

Abstract

Social Workers, Positive Behavior Interventions Supports, and Exclusionary Discipline of Black Males

by

Jacqueline Binion

MS, University of Southern Mississippi, 2007

BS, University of Southern Mississippi, 2002

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

February 2024

Abstract

School social workers play an instrumental role in providing school faculty members with skills and interventions to facilitate positive outcomes in both schools and the community at large. It is not known what role social workers play in the suspension and exclusion of Black male high school students. The research questions for this generic qualitative study explored the perspective of high school teachers and social workers from various South Mississippi counties perceptions of the roles social workers play in the implementation of positive behavior interventions and supports (PBIS) and social workers' impact on the exclusion of Black male students from the high school setting as well as the influence PBIS has had on Black suspension rates in the high school setting. This study was directed using the open systems theory (OST). Virtual interviews were conducted with five participants including four high school teachers and one social worker. Thematic analysis was used to unveil patterns and themes in the data. Overall, findings suggested that social workers did not have substantial involvement with the exclusionary discipline of Black male students in the high school setting and no involvement in the implementation of PBIS. Moreover, PBIS has not had a substantial influence on the Black male exclusionary discipline rate. This qualitative study has the potential to enhance positive social change through social work competencies by providing research-based strategies to advance school social work practice, thus providing social workers in educational settings with evidence-based strategies that could improve the outcomes of Black students in the school setting and increase their ability to become productive members in society.

Social Workers, Positive Behavior Interventions Supports, and Exclusionary Discipline of Black Males

by

Jacqueline Binion

MS, University of Southern Mississippi, 2007 BS, University of Southern Mississippi, 2002

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

February 2024

Dedication

I dedicate this research to my husband James and each of my children: Ephraim, Caitlin, Jamice, Jamaya, and Careese. You guys are my rock and the inspiration necessary for completing my goals. I hope you are also able to achieve your dreams. This generic qualitative study is also dedicated to my grandmother Betty Lou Graham who could only achieve an eighth-grade education, but always stressed the importance of education.

Acknowledgments

Foremost, I give praise to my Lord Jesus Christ for enabling me to achieve this milestone currently in my life.

I would also like to express my sincere gratitude to my research chair, Dr. Mary E. Larscheid, for her patience, guidance, and continued support throughout this generic qualitative study. Additionally, I would like to thank my committee members Dr. Monica Levine-Sauberman and Dr. Debora Rice for their invaluable feedback. Furthermore, I would like to express my appreciation to the Institutional Review Board whose guidance influenced how I conducted my research project. Finally, this research would not have been possible without the participants who volunteered their time to facilitate this generic qualitative study.

Table of Contents

Walden University	ii
Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review	1
Introduction	1
Problem Statement	3
Purpose Statement and Research Questions	5
Nature of the Doctoral Project	7
Significance of the Study	8
Theoretical/Conceptual Framework	11
Values and Ethics	13
Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	14
Racial Disparities in Student Discipline	16
Exclusionary Discipline	21
Social-Emotional Needs	24
Alternatives to Ineffective Interventions	26
Social Workers' Role	30
Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection	34
Introduction	34
Research Design	35
Methodology	36
Partic ipants	36

Instrumentation	37
Ethical Procedures	40
Summary	41
Section 3: Presentation of the Findings	42
Introduction	42
Data Analysis Techniques	43
Findings	49
Theme 1: Suspension of Black Males	50
Theme 2: Support Services	51
Theme 3: Social Workers Have had Some Involvement with Black Hi	igh
School Students	52
Theme 4: Concept of PBIS	55
Theme 5: Barriers to PBIS	57
Theme 6: Social Worker Involvement with PBIS	60
Summary	61
Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social	
Change	63
Introduction	63
Application to Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice	64
Recommendations for Social Work Practice	65
Implications for Further Research	66

Implications for Social Change	67
Summary	69
References	72
Appendix A: Background Survey	89
Appendix B: Social Worker Interview Protocol	91
Appendix C: Teacher Interview Protocol	93
List of Tables	
Table 1 Interview Questions and Related Initial Themes	43
Table 2 Emergent Themes	49

Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review

Introduction

The practice of exclusionary discipline, a system of utilizing out-of-school suspension and expulsion, expanded from the use of zero-tolerance policies, racial and cultural biases, and social-emotional deficiencies (Anderson & Ritter, 2017; Anzalone, 2015; Bell, 2015; Teasley et al., 2017). Black males experience exclusionary discipline at a disproportionate rate (Anderson & Ritter, 2017; Anzalone, 2015; Bell, 2015; Teasley et al., 2017). According to the U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights (OCR, 2021), during the 2017–2018 school year, Black males comprised 7.7% of students attending school in the United States but received 24.9% of one or more out-of-school suspensions and 25.9% of expulsions. This percentage is profound as it is three times the amount of Black male enrollment for the 2017–2018 school year, whereas Caucasian males received 24.9% of one or more out-of-school suspensions correlated to their total enrollment of 24.4% for the 2017–2018 school year (OCR, 2021). Nationally, 1 in 14 high school students were suspended in the 2017–2018 school year (Leung-Gagné et al., 2022). National data also indicate a decrease in the Black-White suspension gap for secondary schools in most states apart from Mississippi, Kansas, Nevada, North Dakota, and South Dakota where the racial gap increased (Leung-Gagné et al., 2022).

For Black males, the experiences they encounter due to exclusionary discipline includes being funneled through the school to prison pipeline, academic failure, and low socioeconomic status. Most profound is the school to prison pipeline, which is viewed as a consequence of the criminalization of students' behaviors to juvenile justice agencies

and adult criminal court (McCarter, 2020). Therefore, students identified as at risk are already at a disadvantage; however, when adding exclusionary discipline practices, their possibility of successfully completing high school diminishes. When students are removed from the classroom, disengagement rates increase, and they fall further behind academically (Marchbanks et al., 2015; McCarter, 2020). Similarly, when students are incarcerated, they receive criminal records, coupled with a failure to obtain a high school diploma (Marchbanks et al., 2015). Students who struggle in school sometimes become adults who struggle in society, thus highlighting a need for school interventions to curtail such occurrences as these same individuals get older.

Positive behavior interventions and supports (PBIS) a framework for highlighting positive behaviors of students while integrating interventions for improved behaviors. PBIS is recognized as "a schoolwide framework for preventing, reducing, and replacing problem behaviors" (Fluke & Peterson, 2013, p. 1). The goal of this framework is to create a positive school culture by teaching students positive replacement behaviors. PBIS provides a consistent process to monitor and analyze in a collaborative manner (Fluke & Peterson, 2013).

As members of the team, school social workers play instrumental role in Black male students' education and their outcomes. This is done in a plethora of ways, primarily by familiarizing staff with the impact of exclusionary discipline. Also, school social workers play a role in addressing the social and economic outcomes of Black males' exclusion from the high school setting. Moreover, school social workers possess a wide range of knowledge that can serve beneficial to faculty, students, and families

(Finigan-Carr & Shaia, 2018). Foremost, school social workers are trained to assist school staff in developing interventions that create a positive school climate that is conducive to students' social and emotional growth (Finigan-Carr & Shaia, 2018). Social workers are educated in providing wrap-around services such as counseling and coordinating community resources to produce positive outcomes for students, the school environment, and the community (Finigan-Carr & Shaia, 2018). These positive outcomes include increasing the high school graduation rates, decreasing student disengagement, and a decline in dropout rates (Avarez et al., 2013). Given these points, school social workers are influential in providing evidence-based programs and interventions that facilitate positive school climates and student outcomes. Enhancing the quality of education for all students is a critical need in the United States, especially for minorities. The equity versus equality debate is still a significant topic of concern.

This section begins with an overview of the context that provides the basis of this generic qualitative study. Included are the problem statement, purpose, research questions, nature of the doctoral project, significance of the study, identification of the background, and the rationale for the study. Additionally, this section provides the theoretical framework, values and ethics, and a review of the professional and academic literature. Finally, Section 1 concludes with a summary of the section.

Problem Statement

The disproportionality of Black males being excluded from educational settings is alarming. Black male students encounter higher rates of exclusionary discipline than Caucasian male students (Anderson & Ritter, 2017; Anzalone, 2015; Bell, 2015; Teasley

et al., 2017). Most profound, datum from the 2017-2018 school year indicated that Mississippi, along with several other states including Kansas, Nevada, North Dakota, and South Dakota, had an increase in the Black–White disproportionality suspension gap in secondary or the high school setting. (Leung-Gagné et al., 2022).

This disproportionality rate of exclusionary discipline can be attributed to the utilization of zero-tolerance policies, cultural and racial biases, as well as social-emotional deficiencies (Anderson & Ritter, 2017; Anzalone, 2015; Bell, 2015; Teasley et al., 2017). Social workers are needed in every educational setting, especially where students are receiving biased consequences. More importantly, schools need a systematic structure in place to ensure consistency and equity.

Zero-tolerance policies provide mandatory suspensions for all disciplinary infractions (Anzalone, 2015; Kennedy et al., 2015; Teasley et al., 2017). Racial and cultural biases that appear in school climate, classroom management, teaching practices, and school funding contribute to excluding Black students from the high school environment (Teasley et al., 2017). The exclusion of Black students is correlated to the students' social-emotional deficiencies, students' enrollment in special education programs, and students with behavior problems (Teasley et al., 2017). Unfortunately, Black males who encounter exclusionary discipline have a path to the school to prison pipeline, academic failure, low socioeconomic status, and social-emotional deficiencies (Anderson & Ritter, 2017; Anzalone, 2015; Bell, 2015; Teasley et al., 2017). The educational system was created to advance individuals, not prohibit them. According to Rosa et al., (2015), PBIS is an effective alternative to zero-tolerance policies.

The PBIS framework has been adopted nationally by districts across the country. Research indicates that PBIS is an effective intervention for decreasing school suspensions and increasing student academic performance (Houchens et al., 2017; Baule, 2020). PBIS, when implemented appropriately and with fidelity, has helped students modify negative behaviors (Fluke & Peterson, 2013; Houchens et al., 2017). Implications or impact is influenced by implementation. Baule's (2020) research found PBIS was an effective intervention for decreasing the out-of-school suspension rate for Black students. This can serve as an additional approach to improve the learning environment of Black males.

Purpose Statement and Research Questions

The purpose of this generic qualitative study was to understand teachers' and social workers' perspectives on the roles social workers have in the implementation of PBIS and their impact on the exclusion of Black male students from the high school setting. Due to harsh disciplinary policies, racial and cultural bias, and lack of social and emotional interventions, Black students are pushed out and excluded from the high school environment (Anzalone, 2015; Kennedy et al., 2015; Teasley et al., 2017). Unfortunately, many school districts do not employ social workers, and those districts that have school social workers underutilize them, thus minimizing the positive impact social workers could have on the exclusionary discipline of Black males in the high school setting.

Presently, there is a gap in data with high school campuses using school social workers to increase the implementation of PBIS with Black male students at risk for

exclusionary discipline. There is a lack of research providing data to demonstrate the need for social workers in the school setting as well as social workers' involvement with maintaining fidelity implementation of PBIS. This qualitative study used social workers and high school teachers to obtain their perspectives of the outcomes of high school Black males with the implementation of PBIS. Additionally, I explored the teachers' perspectives on the impact social workers could have on the implementation of PBIS.

The following concepts were included in this study:

- Exclusionary discipline. A system of utilizing out-of-school suspension and expulsion to remove students from an educational setting (Losen et al., 2015).
- Positive behavior intervention and supports (PBIS). "A schoolwide framework for preventing, reducing, and replacing problem behaviors" (Fluke & Peterson, 2013, p. 1).
- Social worker. School district employees responsible for working with all
 educational stakeholders (i.e., students, teachers, leaders, parents, community
 partners, etc.) to mitigate barriers experienced by students that have the
 potential to negatively impact their academic success (Richardson, Williams,
 & Lewis, 2019).

The research questions for this study were as follows:

 RQ1: How do social workers and high school teachers in various counties in Southern Mississippi describe social workers' work to reduce the exclusionary discipline of Black male students?

- RQ2: How do social workers and high school teachers in various counties in Southern Mississippi describe the PBIS framework's influence on student behavior?
- RQ3: How do social workers and high school teachers in various counties in Southern Mississippi describe social workers' roles in the implementation of PBIS with male Black students?

Nature of the Doctoral Project

This study was descriptive in nature. Qualitative research allows the researcher to fully understand trends or phenomena using descriptive data. Due to the descriptive nature of qualitative research, scientific methods are not involved. Moreover, the goal of qualitative research is "to discover how people see the world" (Cropley, 2019, p. 38). This approach was used to better understand teachers' and social workers' perspectives on the impact of PBIS implementation in their current practice and school campus. It was not known what role social workers play in PBIS, the suspension and exclusion of Black male high school students, nor how teachers perceive social workers.

Data for this qualitative project included virtual interviews from high school teachers and a social worker who works with high school students. There were five participants. Individuals were asked to participate through criterion sampling, which is achieved by selecting research participants to meet criterion of having any involvement with the issue being evaluated (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). My intentions were to gather perspectives from critical stakeholders currently in the field of education to shine a light on their attitudes, understanding, and beliefs regarding the social worker's role and PBIS

implementation on the exclusionary discipline practices of Black male students. Moreover, including participation of key stakeholders can assist with the triangulation of multiple data sources (Jentoft & Olsen, 2009; Then et al., 2014). I administered a nominal scaled questionnaire to obtain background information from participants.

I used the qualitative processes coupled with diverse ways to answer the research questions and produce findings to allow an exploration of ideas and perspectives linked to the exclusionary discipline of Black male students. Semi-structured interviews were used as a data collection method for this project. Interviews allows a researcher to ask participants questions to obtain their beliefs and perspectives on their experiences (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). Due to the COVID19 pandemic, I used the videoconferencing platform Zoom to conduct interviews. Research suggests that Zoom is an adequate method of collecting data as the videoconferencing platform is secure, cost-efficient, and easy to use (Archibald et al., 2019; Gray et al., 2020); more specifically, Zoom can record and store data without using third-party software (Archibald et al., 2019).

Significance of the Study

This qualitative study has the potential to enhance social work competencies by providing research-based research strategies to guide and advance school social work practice. School social workers play an influential role in student supports, administration, and policymaking. Competency 4, provided by the Council on Social Work Education (2015), encourages social workers to conduct practice-informed research and have knowledge of research to inform practice and to utilize theories to guide scientific research. Thus, to become cognizant of their roles in "advancing a science of

social work and evaluating their practice" (p. 2). This information is critical to improve the learning environment of at-risk students. Social workers should apply logic with scientific evaluations and ethics to increase their knowledge. Most importantly, social workers should have the capacity to relate and translate research to "improve practice, policy and service delivery" (Council on Social Work Education, 2015, p. 2).

The knowledge obtained from this qualitative study may facilitate positive change on the micro (clinical practice), mezzo (community practice), and macro (policy practice) levels by employing research strategies with Black students at risk for exclusion (Ebue et al., 2017). The disproportionality rates of Black youth, specifically males, in public school settings, is a grand challenge for the social work profession (Teasley et al., 2017). School discipline is one of the barriers that social workers are in place to mitigate. Richardson et al. (2019) concluded that not only is there a negative relationship with school suspension for students of color, but there is a greater need in urban school settings.

Social workers employ direct knowledge for engaging in case management activities, developing mental health as assessments, and creating behavior intervention plans (Finigan-Carr & Shaia, 2018). These direct interventions are necessary to ensure the individual and collective needs of stakeholders are being met. Most importantly, school social workers play a vital role in facilitating a positive school climate and assisting with emotional growth of students (Finigan-Carr & Shaia, 2018) two goals of the PBIS framework. The outcome of this qualitative study could impact school social workers' increased role in facilitating PBIS as an intervention to impact exclusionary

discipline, while assisting students in mitigating their undesirable behaviors. School social work involves engaging and educating school faculty and staff on strategies that can be used with Black students at risk for academic exclusion. Therefore, the goal is to provide social workers with methods to train educators with research-based concepts to provide a more effective approach for implementation of PBIS and improving school culture and climate. Finally, work practice can engage in administration, policy, and advocacy for social change (Finigan-Carr & Shaia, 20180.

Nationally, there is a lack of school social workers being employed in schools (Whitaker et al., 2019). Those who are employed have large caseloads. Moreover, Finigan-Carr and Shaia (2018) indicated that school social workers are underutilized in school settings. The significance of this research study on the macro level would provide knowledge on the effectiveness of social workers in the school settings demonstrating the need for educational systems to employ social workers at all levels with manageable caseloads. This study can also provide research to inform school districts of the positive impact social workers also have on improving school culture and climate.

Furthermore, the significance of this generic qualitative study may influence policy change in the use of ineffective disciplinary practices with Black students at risk for exclusion. School districts, across the nation, adopted zero-tolerance models to address school discipline (Teasley et al., 2017). Zero-tolerance policies are viewed as policies that use harsh punishment for unmitigated infractions (Anderson & Ritter, 2017; Kennedy, et al., 2015). The application of the zero-tolerance approach, without considering the nature of the infraction and the student's social-emotional needs,

facilitates students' exclusion from the academic setting and increases academic failure. Change is necessary. Utilization of PBIS, as an alternative to exclusionary discipline, racial and cultural bias, and lack of a social-emotional support system, can improve conditions for at-risk students.

Theoretical/Conceptual Framework

Open systems theory (OST) is the theoretical framework that was used for this generic qualitative study. OST is derived from the aspect of the social systems theory, which focused on the interaction between an individual (micro-level) and the environment (Kretchmar, 2019). Additionally, OST employs the application of both the individual (micro) and organization (macro) to conceptualize the behaviors of the organization to promote change. Houchens et al. (2017) asserted that the fidelity level of PBIS implementation determines the effectiveness of improving school discipline, academic performance, and school attendance. The theoretical aspects of OST aid this generic qualitative study in providing an understanding of the associated challenges of PBIS implementation.

General systems theory (GST) is the foundational basis from which OST derived. It emerged as an interdisciplinary theory in general science, which conceptualizes social and behavioral theories relevant to educational organizations. Bertalanffy's (1968, as cited in Sunday, 2017) viewpoint on a system was that "nothing could be understood by isolating merely one part of what plays a significant role in a system" (p. 171). Analyzing systems must be done openly, coupled with resolving the problems revealed.

According to Lunenburg (2010), all schools are open systems. Consistent with open systems, schools receive information and feedback from the environment. School systems consist of five primary components (Lunenburg, 2010). This is inclusive of inputs, human resources (faculty and staff), financial resources, physical resources, and information resources (Lunenburg, 2010). The second component, the transformation process, involves management conceptualizing the resources to facilitate the structure and achieving its goals. Thirdly, the component of outputs recognizes the outcome and results of achieved goals. The next component of feedback is gathered to address the inadequacies of the transformation process. Finally, the environment consists of social, political, and economic entities that affect the organization or school.

OST is consistent with the problem statement and the research question by assessing the problems of PBIS fidelity implementation and the barriers of inclusion of social workers in Black males' outcomes on a high school campus. Furthermore, OST is appropriate for assessing the implementation of PBIS. Most specifically, the characteristics of the transformation component of OST directs administrators to evaluate and resolve issues (Lunenburg 2010) correlates to PBIS schoolwide implementation, such as school administrators collecting data to identify areas of program weakness, growth needs, and accountability (Scaletta et al., 2020). Furthermore Scaletta et al., (2020) suggest that school administrators are tasked with purposefully evaluating programs that impact the learning environment.

In addition, OST can be used to analyze school systems' inability to employ social workers as well as their appropriate use, which contributes to the ineffective

implementation of PBIS. The concepts of OST are appropriate for understanding school systems as all public-school systems are open systems. Therefore, the foundational theories of OST were used to analyze social workers' perspectives of PBIS fidelity implementation on the outcomes of Black male students on the high school campus.

Values and Ethics

School social workers provide a range of services within educational settings. These roles include providing professional development, participating in multidisciplinary team meetings, engaging in administrative functions, advising policy, and connecting with families and communities (Finigan-Carr & Shaia, 2018). As school social workers participate in various roles in their work, the social worker must also adhere to the National Association of Social Workers (NASW) (NASW, 2021) Code of Ethics, which outlines core values and principles for social workers including service, social justice, dignity and worth, the importance of human relationships, integrity, and competence.

The values of the NASW Code of Ethics are vital to school social work practice with the social problem of Black male exclusion. Social workers have a standard to advocate and promote social justice for students and their families. The uttermost principle is providing a service to individuals and families in need (NASW, 2021). Primarily, engaging and assisting "students, families, schools, and the community in providing a service involves providing students' mental, social-emotional services to facilitate their adjustment at home, school, and the community resources to reduce barriers to academic success" (School of Social Work Association of America (SSWAA)

[SSWAA], n.d.). Secondly, the value of social justice encourages school social workers to use professional skills to promote social change for students, families, and communities (SSWAA, n.d.). Thus, social workers are directed to advocate for social justice and equality and are actively seeking change for individuals that are marginalized. Thirdly, the value of dignity of worth stresses the importance of respecting the client and the client's right to make their own decisions. The value of the importance of relationships iterates the significance of working through differences as social change occurs when people work together to enhance the quality of life for others. Subsequently, social workers have a professional principle to practice in a trustworthy manner and demonstrate the responsibility to adhere to the agency and clients they work for (NASW, 2021). In addition, social workers have the responsibility to practice with competence, acquire knowledge, and apply knowledge to their day-to-day tasks (NASW, 2021).

Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Research has indicated that disproportionality continues to occur at a higher rate for Black male students (Harper et al., 2019; OCR, 2021). Black male students "received out-of-school suspensions (24.9%) at rates more than three times their share of the total student enrollment (7.7%)—the largest disparity across all races, ethnicity, and sex grouping" (OCR, 2021, p. 3).

To illustrate, the state of Mississippi continues to utilize suspensions at a higher rate (Harper et al., 2019; Leung-Gagné et al., 2022; Mississippi Data Project, 2017).

According to the OCR, (2021, during the 2017–2018 school year, in grades K-12, Black makes represented 48.6% of students enrolled in public schools in Mississippi.

Profoundly, 68.7% of Black males in K-12 schools in Mississippi without disabilities received at least one out-of-school suspension for the 2017–2018 school year. In addition, 64.2% of Black males in grades K-12 without disabilities, were referred to law enforcement for the 2017-2018 school year (OCR, 2021). In comparison, 44.3% of Mississippi K-12 student enrollment for the 2027-2018 school year were White males. Additionally, 27.3% of White males without disabilities received one out of school suspension and 31.7% of White males without disabilities were referred to law enforcement. Furthermore, Mississippi is amongst five other states including Kansas, Nevada, North Dakota, and South Carolina where racial disparities increased in secondary education (Leung-Gagné et al., 2022). Several factors contribute to the use of disproportional suspension in Black males. Primarily, the use of zero-tolerance policies, which apply harsh discipline for minute behavior infractions (Anzalone, 2015; Kennedy et al., 2015; Teasley et al., 2017). A second factor includes the school campus' use of bias (Teasley et al., 2017). Finally, there is the lack of school-related support-service resources for students who present with behavioral and emotional disorders (Teasley et al., 2017).

In contrast, PBIS has been noted as an evidenced-based intervention (Fluke & Peterson, 2013; Houchens et al., 2017). Although PBIS has proven effective in decreasing suspension rates, disproportionality with Black male students continues to occur (Houchens et al., 2017). The factors of PBIS fidelity implementation and cultural bias have been identified as rationales for the ineffectiveness of PBIS. School social workers can play an influential role in implementing PBIS to impact exclusionary

discipline with Black male students; however, school social workers are underutilized (Finigan-Carr & Shaia, 2018).

In this section, I reviewed the literature on the factors contributing to exclusionary discipline amongst Black male students. Considering the magnitude of the outcomes for the identified participants, the benefit and underutilization of school social works in alleviating exclusionary discipline is of grave importance. The literature related to exclusionary discipline and PBIS were reviewed in this section. To initiate this research, I used keywords such as *exclusionary discipline*, *socioeconomic issues*, *zero-tolerance policies*, *PBIS*, and *school/teacher bias* to conduct searches in the Walden University Library, Google search, and Google Scholar. Finally, the data located consisted of research studies, governmental reports, and dissertations.

There is a myriad of related concepts to understanding the exclusionary discipline of Black high school males, in relation to the role of the social worker and teachers' perceptions. However, the organization of the professional and academic literature is inclusive of the following components: exclusionary discipline, cultural bias, and social-emotional needs. These components highlight the equality versus equity debate of educating minority children. The historical context of the development of zero-tolerance policies will not be explored, but rather the impact of their development. Bias, along with social-emotional needs of Black males' experience, will be addressed.

Racial Disparities in Student Discipline

The way students are assigned consequences impacts their achievement. In some cases, when students are cognizant of varied treatment, this causes issues for all

stakeholders (e.g., students, parents, teachers, social workers, local/district leadership, etc.). When variance is denoted as a bifactor of race, it intensifies exclusionary discipline. Gordon (2018) asserted the documentation of racial disparities, regarding discipline, dates back decades. In North Carolina, Lindsay and Hart (2017) reported that Black students were less likely to experience exclusionary discipline if they had Black teachers.

School districts have policies in place to mitigate barriers that have led to racial inequalities in education (Cardichon & Darling-Hammond, 2019). This includes how discipline consequences are assigned to students. Steinberg and Lacoe (2017) explored discipline reform in Pennsylvania. Revealed was the following:

- a majority of schools did not comply with the policy with fidelity,
- 60% of schools reduced the number of suspensions for conduct (expectation was to eliminate, not reduce), and
- noncompliant schools use conduct as a rationale for out of school suspensions. This led to an exploration of student outcomes. Data showed there was no adverse impact on students who were not suspended. Policy compliance varied across schools. Therefore, policy change is implemented more effectively at the school level than the district level.

Debates linking policy to practice regarding the school to prison to pipeline result from disproportionality. The Department of Education is now exploring research completed over the last decade (Petrilli, 2017). Goals of such policies include highlighting the impact, present and future, of racial disparities in school discipline. The issue is prevalent. Students, regardless of race or offense, should be treated equally and

the policies in place should be utilized equally. Individual and collective rights of all students should be protected (Barnes & Motz, 2018).

There should be no separation in how students are treated in educational settings. This is inclusive of how they are taught, treated, and assigned consequences for undesirable behaviors. There is a correlation between discrimination and the student discipline gap (Gordon, 2018). Implicit bias shows up in the treatment of minority students, regarding how they are treated, as a result of their behavior (Gershenson & Dee, 2017). Studies have also been done on students' participation in the federal lunch program. Barrett et al. (2017) researched suspensions in relation to race and family income status in Louisiana schools. The researchers found a relationship between students' suspension and their free or reduced-priced lunch status, with Black students being suspended twice the rate of White students. Additionally, Barrett et al. (2017) research found that "Black students are about twice as likely as white students to be suspended, and low-income students are about 1.75 times as likely as non-low income students to be suspended (p.1).

Disparities also exist due to the length of the suspension students receive.

Research was conducted to explore the variance amongst races. Anderson et al., (2017) found that "Black students receive about 0.07 extra days of punishment per incident relative to White students in the same school" (p. 17). Even when students receive the same consequence, Black students' length of suspension is longer. Though the numbers are low, they do have statistical significance.

The racial gap in schools results from an array of variables. Gopalan and Nelson (2019) conducted a study to explore the discipline gap between Black and White, and Hispanic and White students. Their exploration included students in the state of Indiana in prekindergarten through 12th grades, from the 2008–2009 to the 2013–2014 school years. Characteristics included gender, poverty, attendance, race, and suspension rates. Multiple regressions were conducted across three grade spans, such as Prekindergarten and kindergarten, grades one through eight, and high school (Gopalan & Nelson, 2019). Black students are suspended at an alarmingly higher rate than their White, Hispanic, and other counterparts. In every school year analyzed, Black students were suspended at higher percentages than Hispanic, White, and other students.

Gopalan and Nelson (2019) also separated the data into three bands based on grade level to highlight the impact grade level and ethnicity has on suspensions. Among prekindergarten and kindergarten students in Indiana, Black students were almost always suspended at twice the rate for White, Hispanic, and other races. Rates are doubled in every category for Black students' suspension. The final data depiction, in their study, highlights the same components for high school students, showing that White students are suspended less than half the rate of Black students, and Hispanic students are more likely to be suspended than White students and students of other races, but still less than Black students. Racial biases in the community impact racial disparities in schools. This negatively impacts the rate at which students experience academic success. Similarly, Riddle and Sinclair (2019) explained that:

Black students in the United States are subject to disciplinary action at rates much higher than their white counterparts. These disciplinary actions put students at higher risk for negative life outcomes, including involvement in the criminal justice system. Using federal data covering over 32 million students at nearly 96,000 schools, our research demonstrates that the disciplinary gap between black and white students across five types of disciplinary actions is associated with county-level rates of racial bias. (p. 8255)

Researchers conducted a study to understand the relationship between racial disparities, in schools, and in communities. Riddle and Sinclair's (2019) research not only highlighted that Black student are suspended at higher rates, but also that Black students receive harsher punishments, with negative long-term outcomes (i.e., employment and criminal justice system involvement). The authors highlighted the disproportionate variance between black and white disciplinary actions (Riddle & Sinclair, 2019).

Teachers are one of the most significant factors to influence student achievement (Hattie & Anderson, 2020). Their impact also influences what results from disciplinary infractions. The treatment of students regarding discipline is a civil rights issue (Lindsay & Hart, 2021). Researchers Lindsay and Hart (2021) posed the following question in their study: Does having a same race teacher impact students' accessibility to exclusionary discipline? Their frame of reference was students in North Carolina. Findings assert that students are less likely to be suspended from school, consequently, when they share the same race as their teacher (Lindsay & Hart, 2021). This highlights the need for not only more research, but also greater adversity in the education field.

The school to prison pipeline creates another issue for students and schools. As noted by Lindsay and Hart (2021), "Blacks and Latino students experience harsher discipline in schools than their white peers and that these school-based experiences increase the likelihood of their eventual engagement with the criminal justice system" (p. 8). The most vulnerable population of students are susceptible to experiencing exclusionary discipline. This is inclusive of Black, Hispanic, and American Indian students, along with students with exceptionalities. The American Psychological Association (2019) share the following:

- the school to prison pipeline starts early,
- Black students and students with disabilities are more likely to receive harsh school discipline than their counterparts,
- disproportionate suspensions of girls of color are alarming,
- students of color with disabilities have harsher consequences than their nondisabled counterparts,
- the link between school discipline and the school to prison pipeline is well recognized, and
- implicit bias influences disciplinary decisions (p.1).

Exclusionary Discipline

Exclusionary discipline has harmful effects on students and their academic achievement. Williams (2020) shared the impacts of exclusionary discipline to include an interruption of learning, supportive services, students to feel unsafe, an increase to more disruptive behavior, truancy, and/or dropping out, coupled with contributing to the school

to prison pipeline. This includes in- and out-of-school suspensions, along with detention and expulsions (Lacoe & Steinberg, 2018). Students need advocates in schools where exclusionary practices are used. Black males' suspensions are statistically significant and higher (Girvan et al., 2017).

Though research has suggested that minorities receive harsher punishment than their White counterparts, this negative phenomenon impacts them socially, cognitively, and behaviorally. Darensbourg et al. (2010) conducted a study to examine the overrepresentation of Black males in education. The purpose of their study was to provide school-based mental health professionals with recommendations for mitigating negative educational experiences for minorities. In their review, they addressed the zero-tolerance policies, disproportionality, and other punitive discipline practices.

Darensbourg et al. (2010) revealed that mental health professionals possess critical skill sets that can reduce Black males' exposure to exclusionary discipline, to minimize adverse outcomes.

Zero-Tolerance Policies

Zero-tolerance policies emerged in the early 1990s as an intervention for school violence (Anderson & Ritter, 2017). These policies evolved from the federal government's model of crime and drug enforcement programs. Zero-tolerance is characterized as "swift, certain, and severe punishments for any behavioral misconduct at school, no matter how minor the infraction" (p.1); therefore, exclusionary discipline such as out-of-school suspensions and expulsions is applied to any type of school behavioral infraction (Peterson et al., 2014). For example, school administrators can suspend

students for minor violations. The underlying philosophy of zero-tolerance policies was to create safe school climates (Fluke & Peterson, 2013; Peterson et al., 2014). However, the application of zero-tolerance policies has had an adverse effect on Black male students.

Research has reflected zero-tolerance policies as ineffective strategies for improving student behaviors (Peterson et al., 2014). Such policies facilitate increased school absences, thus denying students access to instructional time (Losen & Whitaker, 2019; Marchbanks et al., 2015; Peterson et al., 2014). National data indicate Black males missed 66 days of instructional time due to out-of-school suspensions (Losen & Whitaker, 2018), which is over a third of a traditional school year. Thus, exclusionary discipline contributes to increased student dropouts, low graduation rates, incarceration, and low socioeconomic status (Losen & Whitaker, 2018; Marchbanks et al., 2015; Peterson et al., 2014).

Bias

Quereshi and Okonofua (2017) concur with Harper, Ryberg, & Temkin (2019) that Black students receive more severe discipline such as expulsion, arrest, and incarceration. Moreover, once a student is labeled, the student may continue to receive biased disciplinary actions. The authors suggest that these disparities in discipline encountered by Black students are caused by implicit bias. Foremost, implicit bias is categorized as "the attitudes or stereotypes that affect our understanding, actions, and decisions in an unconscious manner" (Quereshi & Okonofua, 2017, p.10). An individual can demonstrate bias unintentionally. Unfortunately, unintentional bias affects an

individual's behavior, causing individuals to treat two racially different individuals differently just because of race or ethnicity. In addition to implicit bias, racial anxiety is also a factor in discriminatory practices. Racial anxiety was described as the intense level of stress an individual experiences when he or she interacts with others from a different (Quereshi & Okonofua, 2017). Consequently, the literature suggests that these aspects of implicit bias are observed in school discipline. For example, if a teacher interacts with a racially different student, he or she may have biased perceptions of the student and the students' behavior (Quereshi & Okonofua, 2017).

Cultural bias facilitates teachers' perceptions of Black students (Okonofua & Eberhardt, 2015; Quereshi & Okonofua, 2017). Studies indicate biased perceptions of Black students as having negative attitudes, demonstrating poor behavior, and performing academically lower than their Caucasian students (Okonofua & Eberhardt, 2015). Moreover, teachers' stereotypical attitudes of Black students' behaviors facilitate their disciplinary decisions. The authors' research indicated that teachers' responses to Black students' additional minor infractions were harsher than their reactions to Caucasian students who demonstrated the same behavior (Okonofua & Eberhardt, 2015).

Social-Emotional Needs

Teasely et al. (2017) support the research that Black male students receive exclusionary discipline at higher rates than Caucasian students. Furthermore, Black youth are diagnosed with mental health disorders at an increased disproportionate rate. In ratio to Caucasian students, Black students are diagnosed with emotional disturbance disorder at 2.7% higher rate; Black students are diagnosed with cognitive impairments at a higher

rate than their white counterparts. Moreover, there is a correlation between the disproportionality of Black students diagnosed with mental health disorders and special education. It is important to note that while the mental health issue of Black males is a researchable phenomenon, it brings a stigma to Black males (Teasely et al., 2017).

Whitaker et al. (2019) illustrate the prevalence of mental health problems on school campuses. Mental health challenges include an array of disorders and suicide ideation. Specifically, "the suicide rate for children ages 10 to 17 increased by 70% between 2006 and 2016" (Whitaker et al., 2019, p. 6). The mental implication of the lack of social-emotional support negatively impacts not only cognitive development but also hinders mental clarity and/or progression. Approximately 72% of children will have witnessed a traumatic event, such as being victims of abuse, observing violent incidents, and experiencing the death of a loved one (Whitaker et al., 2019). Adverse childhood experiences influence students' productivity in all aspects of life.

One in 5 children will have suffered a psychological issue (Whitaker et al., 2019). Thus, 70% to 80% of these students will need additional mental health services from school staff due to the inaccessibility of mental health resources. Conversely, school districts lack support staff such as social workers, counselors, and psychologists. Data from the 2015–2016 Civil Rights Data Collection Report (OCR, 2018), approximately 3,000 schools met the professional recommendation of 250 students to one social worker. Most profoundly, 67,000 schools did not employ a social worker. In contrast, school districts have increased the utilization of school resource officers, which heightens the exposure at-risk students have with law enforcement officers, while not adequately

addressing their mental health needs, thus facilitating the criminalization of students with possible mental health needs (Whitaker et al., 2019).

Alternatives to Ineffective Interventions

Positive behavior intervention and support (PBIS) is an evidence-based multitiered framework for improving student behaviors (Fluke & Peterson, 2013; Freeman et al., 2019). Primarily, PBIS consists of three tiers. Tier 1 is viewed as a universal tier that applies to all students. Moreover, Tier 1 implements teaching campus expectations of behaviors to all students. Eighty percent of the student body should respond to Tier 1 interventions. Tier 2 provides interventions to approximately 15% of the school's student population. At this tier, students received more focused interventions such as social skills groups (Fluke & Peterson, 2013; Freeman et al., 2019). The final tier, Tier 3 is most intensive.

Tier 3 provides services for the remaining 5%of the student population (Fluke & Peterson, 2013; Freeman et al., 2019). These students are considered at risk because they did not respond to the previous levels of interventions. Moreover, at Tier 3, the interventions are individualized, focusing directly on the students' needs. Furthermore, Tier 3 consists of providing students with intensive interventions such as mental health counseling, functional behavior assessments, and wrap-around services (Freeman et al., 2019).

The fundamental goal of PBIS is to "teach students more positive, appropriate behaviors while creating an environment in which these behaviors are more acceptable than negative, inappropriate behaviors" (Fluke & Peterson, 2013, p. 1). PBIS focuses on

the concept of modeling and learning new behaviors. Once a new skill or behavior is learned, the behavior is reinforced by applying positive or negative reinforcements. Behaviors that are reinforced are demonstrated repeatedly, which makes PBIS a practical framework for improving student behaviors. In contrast, the use of zero-tolerance policies has been observed as an ineffective intervention for improving student behaviors (Fluke & Peterson, 2013; Peterson et al., 2014).

Houchens et al. (2018) emphasize the effectiveness of PBIS in improving student behavior, reducing office referrals, and decreasing school suspensions. However, the overall outcome of PBIS is contingent on the fidelity of the implementation. In addition, research also indicates a link between high PBIS implementation levels, decreases in outof-school suspensions, and improved academic performance. The goal of increased PBIS levels is to enhance the quality of education students receive in an environment conducive to learning. Houchens et al. conducted a research study to evaluate "working conditions in SWPBIS schools with varying levels of implementation fidelity" (p. 170). Fidelity of implementation requires stakeholders to move from compliance to commitment. The researcher's study found that teachers' implementation fidelity level was influenced by their perception of students and faculty's knowledge of behavioral expectations, acceptable student behavior, and school safety. Additionally, schools with high and medium levels of implementation fidelity demonstrated generally higher achievement scores on statewide exams than schools that presented with lower levels of implementation fidelity (Houchens et al., 2018).

Baule (2020) iterates a positive method of school discipline than using a system of punishment. Moreover, the author's research evaluates the implementation of PBIS and questions the impact of PBIS on middle and high school suspensions in an urban school district in Muncie, Indiana. The study established that the implementation of PBIS positively decreased the type and quantity of disciplinary infractions. Additionally, the administrators' attitude toward implementing PBIS also influenced the level of implementation fidelity. Although PBIS influenced decreasing disciplinary problems and racial disproportionality of Black, multiracial, and Caucasian students, racial disproportionality was observed (Baule, 2020).

In addition to PBIS, the researchers suggest the inclusion of restorative practices. These practices include students becoming a member of supportive community with increased accountability (Okonofua et al., 2016). The Schott Foundation (n.d.) highlighted nine primary restorative practices to mitigate exclusionary discipline:

- 1. Restorative justice: dialogue between victim and accuser with the opportunity to mitigate exclusionary discipline.
- 2. Community conferencing: dialogue with a mediator and all involved parties about the offense, its impact, and possible resolutions.
- 3. Community service: self-improvement through serving others.
- 4. Peer juries: using trained peers to meet with the offender to discuss offense, its impact to others, and possible resolutions.
- Peer mediation: students are trained to facilitate conflict resolution with their peers.

- Circle process: regular scheduled meeting with students and educators to foster a sense of community.
- 7. Preventative and Post Conflict Resolution Programs: programs geared towards students' self-regulation, resolve problems, and manage conflict.
- 8. Informal Restorative: informal strategies that facilitate sharing of feelings and reflective communication.
- 9. Social Emotional Learning: framework to help students make connections, build empathy, and collaborate to manage conflict.

Addressing these issues from a political standpoint may also serve beneficial.

Education reform includes leveling the playing field regarding the quality of education students receive, this should be inclusive of the consequences assigned because of their behavior. The development of disciplinary policies should include feedback from stakeholders directly impacted by the changes being recommended. Legislators should examine data on increased and declining suspension rates in their discovery phase (Eden, 2017; D'Orio, 2018). Compliance, at the local school level, is a concern; however, a decline in suspensions resulted in Philadelphia, when schools used positive rather than punitive measures to address undesirable behaviors; other positive impacts included increased cohesion amongst faculty, teacher morale, and a better approach to serving students with varied socioeconomic statuses (Gray et al., 2017).

The APA (2020) supports the need to address exclusionary discipline, via policy, as the outcomes of youth have short and long-term implications. How youth's undesirable behaviors are addressed impacts our criminal justice system. There is a grave

need to address racial inequalities, and it is no different with race and school-based punishment. The following are recommendations provided by the APA (2020):

- Enact legislation to increase access to behavioral health counseling and other support services.
- Implement alternative solutions that do not include removing students from the classroom.
- Adopt policies that address discrimination and biases.
- Require stakeholders to attend anti-bias intervention training.
- Enhance data collection and reporting (pp. 2-3).

Social Workers' Role

There are a myriad of duties and responsibilities expected of social workers. Vulnerable student populations require more support than teachers and administrators alone can provide. Social workers' primary role is to alleviate barriers to students' successful high school completion. The Atlanta Public Schools System (2020) identifies the goal of social workers as keeping students in school, ensuring they graduate, experience success while in school, and develop socially and emotionally. Wisconsin's Department of Public Instruction (n.d.) highlighted the following as top issues and responsibilities of social workers: (a) mental health/illness, (b) attendance, truancy, and dropouts, (c) behavior management, (d) basic human needs, (e) special education, (f) trauma, (g) crises, (h) homelessness, (i) family relationships, (j) school culture/climate, (k) resiliency, and (l) child abuse and neglect. Social workers are responsible for providing an added layer of support for students who have increased risks.

Social workers provide comprehensive support to students when evaluating their role in discipline. Three roles are prevalent: individual and small group services, classroom instruction, and system changes. Individual and small group services address the need for anger management, social skills, and how to resolve conflict (Rhim & Kothari, 2018). Not all students have individuals who advocate for them or teach them how to handle crises. Social workers can also work with stakeholders to develop students' behavior intervention plans. From the social worker's lens, classroom instruction is not English/Language Arts, mathematics, science, and social studies. But more so protective behaviors, suicide prevention, health promotion, and bullying prevention (Ramey, 2016). Lastly, changing systems within a school, though sometimes challenging, is another duty of the social worker. It can be the implementation of PBIS or the building of relationships between the school and the community.

Students struggle with receiving adverse treatment, especially when they are cognizant that it is a byproduct of race or cultural differences, and their peers are receiving a different consequence (Kirwan Institute, 2019). Fair treatment of students of all ethnicities has remained a concern in educational reform. Luster (2018) highlights the challenge of educators everywhere, trying to bridge the gaps between discipline and school safety, classroom efficacy, and positive student outcomes. Students want to be successful but struggle with disengagement because of unfair treatment and feelings of isolation, being misunderstood, undervalued, and unwelcome. Educators found that when students feel they have a voice, they are more likely to positively contribute to the learning environment (Luster, 2018). Social workers can also support structures as such.

The role of all educators is expanding; school social workers are no different. Social workers have an innate ability to intertwine culturally and developmentally appropriate strategies to minimize suspensions (Mowen & Brent, 2016). The social work discipline is necessary to reverse exclusionary discipline practices in schools across America. Duran (2020) reviewed social workers' role in reducing school suspension; the study aimed to explore how social workers in California used alternatives to minimize the use of exclusionary discipline and their efficacy in preventing future suspensions.

Durane's findings suggest the following as alternatives to suspensions: navigate systems for students with repeat offenses, mediate and serve as students' voice, build staff capacity, improve teachers' buy-in, facilitate school mobilization to support vulnerable students, foster a nurturing community, and development for alternatives to suspension.

Incorporating these strategies can positively influence a school's culture and climate.

Summary

This generic qualitative study was conducted to understand the impact of PBIS on the outcome of Black male students on a high school campus. In addition, the researcher wanted to understand the teachers' perceptions of issues related to implementation with fidelity. The data from this study provided specific skills to assist school social workers in the field. Additionally, the evidence from this study minimizes the gap in data with high school campuses, using school social workers to increase fidelity implementation of PBIS with Black male students at risk for exclusionary discipline. Shared was research-based data to demonstrate the need for social workers in the school setting as well as social workers' involvement with maintaining and successfully implementing PBIS.

Social workers and high school teachers can use this qualitative study to share their perspectives on the outcomes of Black males on the high school campus with implementing PBIS. Finally, this project utilized insight from the teacher's and social workers' perspectives on the impact social workers have on PBIS implementation.

Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection

Introduction

In Section 1, I highlighted how qualitative research practices would be used to explore the experiences, challenges, and barriers of high school teachers and social workers concerning implementing PBIS interventions for Black male high school students in South Mississippi counties. Black male students are being excluded from high school campuses at an alarming rate (Teasley et al., 2017). This exclusion amounts to Black male students missing instructional time and decreasing the graduation rate of Black male students. Furthermore, suspensions and expulsions place Black male students at risk of encountering the school-to-prison pipeline (McCarter, 2020). Social workers in educational settings can be integral in implementing research-based interventions such as PBIS and other support services. Therefore, the purpose of this generic qualitative study is to understand high school teachers' and social workers' perspectives of the roles social workers play in the implementation of PBIS and their impact on the exclusion of Black male students from the high school setting as well as the influence PBIS has had on Black suspension rate from the high school setting. The research questions were:

The research questions were:

- 1. How do social workers and high school teachers in various counties in Southern Mississippi describe social workers' work to reduce the exclusionary discipline of Black male students?
- 2. How do social workers and high school teachers in various counties in Southern Mississippi describe the PBIS framework's influence on student behavior??

3. How do social workers and high school teachers in various counties in Southern Mississippi describe social workers' roles in the implementation of PBIS with Black male students?

The components of Section 2 include the research design and methodology, inclusive of participants, instrumentation, data analyses, and ethical procedures.

Primarily, the research design was descriptive in nature utilizing semi-structured interviews and five participants. Secondly, the research methods consisted of a 10-question interview protocol. Data analysis was conducted by applying thematic analysis. The findings of the research suggested that social workers have little to no involvement with the exclusionary discipline of Black male students in the high school setting.

Additionally, social workers' duties were as behavior specialists and mental health counselors. However, the social workers' involvement with students is obstructed by who is supposed to refer the student to the social worker.

Research Design

Siedlecki (2020) termed *descriptive research* as describing the phenomenon by examining it in the natural setting. This generic qualitative research aimed to explore, thematize, and unveil high school teachers' and social workers' perspectives on implementing PBIS and its outcome on the exclusionary discipline Black males experience. Qualitative research practices were used to explore the phenomenon. I collected data from social workers and teachers from various South Mississippi Counties.

I used the latest data from the US Department of Education's OCR (2021) as a frame of reference from the social workers' and teachers' perspectives. All participants were asked to complete a demographic survey (see Appendix A) to provide background

data. The interview protocols were designed for each discipline, using one for social workers and one for high school teachers (see Appendices B and C, respectively). Openended questions were used to clarify participants' beliefs and understanding while providing more in-depth insight (Singer & Couper, 2017).

Methodology

Participants

This generic qualitative study incorporated five interviews, including teachers and social workers working with high school students across South Mississippi counties. The goal was to validate the information provided by the participants through the development of themes (Singer & Couper, 2017). Participants for this generic qualitative study were obtained through criterion sampling and convenience sampling. In criterion sampling, a researcher selects participants based on their knowledge and work with an occurrence being evaluated (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). Convenience sampling is selecting participants based on their availability to the researcher (Jager et al., 2017). Per Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) guidelines, all participants must complete an Informed Consent Form. The research study's participate criteria stipulated that all participants must have worked in a Mississippi County school system as a high school social worker or teacher and have worked in their current role for a minimum of three years.

Additionally, the participation criteria specified that the participants would have knowledge of PBIS. Participants were able to withdraw at any time during the data collection period. High school social workers and teachers were interviewed and asked

questions focusing on their practice in their current high school and the PBIS implementation impact on Black males. I sought to obtain participants who were vested in an occurrence but had different personal perspectives (Moser & Korstjens, 2018).

Instrumentation

Three instruments were used within this project. A demographic survey (see Appendix A) was given to all participants to complete. I developed this tool to ensure alignment with the criteria for the study. Providing accurate professional descriptors of the participants would illuminate their perspectives. Additionally, two instruments were developed, tailored to social workers' (Appendix B) and the teachers' (Appendix C) respected practices. The instruments guided the social workers and teachers to focus on their practice and work with Black males and the social workers' role in PBIS implementation. Furthermore, the interview questions allowed me to examine participants' roles in the disciplinary process, direct practice skills, and their involvement with the PBIS implementation.

Young et al. (2018) described how interviews could be used to gain knowledge and an understanding of stakeholders' values, beliefs, and decisions while strengthening research. I developed the interview questions for the social workers (see Appendix B) by engaging in dialogue with educators. Two high school administrators, a social worker, and teachers were included. Questions were developed during the Summer and Fall semesters of 2020. All questions were open-ended to allow participants to open up and share information from their lens as current practitioners and to allow the researcher to probe for clarity based on responses.

Data Analysis

The qualitative data analysis design involves the researcher reading the data rigorously to understand participants' meanings of human experiences with a phenomenon. Qualitative data analysis facilitates interpreting data generated from sources such as structured or semi-structured interviews, focus groups, and observations (Lester et al., 2020). Data analysis for this generic qualitative study was generated by using thematic analysis. Lester et al. (2020) referred to thematic analysis as "an analytic method commonly used to identify patterns across data sets" (p. 95). More specifically, the researcher analyzes the data for codes that identify labels across the data set (Viasmoradi et al., 2016).

Additionally, the codes are generated into themes characterized as similar essential defining elements (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). These themes assist the researcher in answering the research questions (Viasmoradi et al., 2016). Themes can be semantic or latent (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). Semantic themes are focused directly on what the participants expressed, whereas latent themes focus on participants' assumptions and underlying perspectives expressed within the data (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017).

In thematic analysis, the coding method is guided by the researcher's perspectives, research questions and can consist of both methods (Dawadi, 2020; Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). Inductive analysis involves generating themes based solely on the data set. In contrast, in deductive analysis, a researcher develops themes using the concepts of the theory, research questions, as well as the literature (Dawadi, 2020; Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). Utilizing both methods can increase the validity of the

qualitative data analysis process (Dawadi, 2020). Additionally, validity can be achieved by (a) assuring the research question will address the topic, (b) the research methods are appropriate for answering the research question, (c) the alignment is appropriate for the research design and methodology, (d) the sampling and data analysis, (e) the results and conclusions are appropriate for the sample and context (Leung, 2015). Researchers identify the Braun and Clarke thematic six phases of data analysis as an effective method for facilitating the validity of qualitative data analysis (Dawadi, 2020; Lester et al., 2020). This thematic analysis is a systematic process where the phases overlap and guide the researcher in reading and rereading data sets (Dawadi, 2020).

For this generic qualitative study, I used the *Zoom* online meeting platform to audio record participant's' interviews. *Zoom* provides a secure method of videoconferencing that does not require third-party software (Archibald et al., 2019). Additionally, *Zoom* has a secure feature of user-specific authentication and real-time encryption of meetings (Archibald et al., 2019). I used *Microsoft 365* to transcribe the recorded interview videos. *Microsoft 365*, the online version, has a component that allows premium subscribers to transcribe videos into the web version of Word (Gunnell, 2020). *Microsoft Excel* is a software spreadsheet program used for data analysis and documentation (University of Washington, 2023). The cells in the spreadsheet hold one piece of data, which makes information more accessible to view and find meaning in the data (University of Washington, 2023). Primarily, the research questions and answers were placed into an *Excel* worksheet, with each comment placed into a column (Bree & Gallagher, 2016).

I coded the data using Braun and Clarke's six phases of thematic analysis. Next, the data were reviewed to locate themes (Bree & Gallagher, 2016). Additionally, themes and cells were color-coded as Microsoft Excel uses a color-coding tool that sorts cells and data into a thematic color scheme (Bree & Gallagher, 2016). Thus, aligning the crucial themes for additional reviews (Bree & Gallagher, 2016). There is a myriad of limitations and barriers that may accompany the research. The expected participants were sampled from various South Mississippi counties. There were no guarantees that social workers and teachers would want to participate, coupled with the potential for their implicit biases.

Ethical Procedures

Walden University's IRB stresses that all research studies receive IRB approval before conducting research (Research Ethics, n.d.). Thus, iterating the significance of conducting ethical research to promote social change. Data collection was done ethically. The IRB maintains ethical standards in Walden Research studies (Research Ethics, n.d.). Therefore, the research for this study began after the URR and Walden IRB approval (03-23-22-0238364) was received.

I used *Google* to research the school districts in South Mississippi that utilized the PBIS framework. social media sites such as *LinkedIn*, *Instagram*, and *Facebook* to sample participants actively. All information was disseminated through electronic communication. However, the research process started with all participants receiving the Informed Consent Form detailing the nature of the research study, their rights, risks of

potential harm, and the researcher's contact information. The interviews were scheduled via email and confirmed electronically with the meeting code and password embedded.

All participants' identities were maintained confidential. Each social worker and teacher received a code based on role and submission number (e.g., SW1- (Social Worker submitted first) Identifying information was not shared or viewed by anyone but myself and will be kept private and secure on a password-protected device. Any supplemental documents related to the study are locked in a file cabinet at my home and office. All information will be discarded after 5 years.

Summary

Interviews were used as a data collection method to conceptualize themes of social workers and teachers working with Black males to reduce exclusionary discipline in South Mississippi counties. I used the interviews to provide insight into the impact social workers' implementation of PBIS has on male Black students in various Mississippi counties. The goal was to have social workers and teachers from Mississippi counties during the 2020–2021 school year. Three tools were used to collect data: Background Survey (Appendix A), the social worker interview protocol (Appendix B), and the teacher interview protocol (Appendix C). In Section 3, I presented the findings of the study.

Section 3: Presentation of the Findings

Introduction

This generic qualitative study aimed to explore social workers' role in implementing PBIS and the exclusionary discipline of Black male high school students. The research questions were the following:

- 1. How do social workers and high school teachers in various counties in Southern Mississippi describe their work to reduce the exclusionary discipline of Black male students?
- 2. How do social workers and high school teachers in various counties in Southern Mississippi describe the PBIS framework's influence on student behavior?
- 3. How do social workers and high school teachers in various counties in Southern Mississippi describe social workers' roles in the implementation of PBIS with male Black students?

Data were collected by conducting *Zoom* interviews with five participants. Furthermore, I transcribed the interviews and utilized coding to analyze and thematize data.

This generic qualitative study incorporated the concepts of the OST and the GST, the theoretical aspects of which aided this generic qualitative study in providing an understanding of the problems of the fidelity of PBIS implementation and the influence on the outcomes of Black males, coupled with the associated social work practices. In addition, school districts can use OST to analyze school systems' inability to employ social workers and the misuse of social workers in the field, which can contribute to the

ineffective implementation of PBIS. The theoretical aspects of OST and GST aided this generic qualitative study in the following: (a) analysis of social workers' and teachers' perspectives of PBIS implementation with fidelity and (b) the impact of exclusionary discipline.

Data Analysis Techniques

This generic qualitative study aimed to understand social workers' and teachers' perspectives on the implementation of PBIS and its impact on the exclusion of Black male students from the high school setting. In addition, I sought to understand the influence PBIS has had on the Black male suspension rate. There was a gap in the literature regarding the identified concepts. All research questions were answered using a qualitative research design. I gathered data from participants with extensive knowledge of PBIS and provided services to Black male high school students. Two different interview instruments were designed for social workers and teachers. Each instrument had ten interview questions in which six themes emerged.

Following IRB approval for this generic qualitative study, I conducted a *Google* search for South Mississippi counties with school districts that utilized PBIS. Twenty-three possible respondents (16 social workers and seven teachers) were invited to participate in this study via social media sites: *LinkedIn, Facebook Messenger*, and *Instagram*. One social worker and four teachers consented to participate. Seven social workers did not respond, and five did not meet the criteria. Additionally, two teachers did not respond, one failed to consent, and two did not meet the requirements. The one social worker included in the study had an undergraduate degree in social work and a master's

degree with up to 12 years in education. Of the four teachers, three had undergraduate education degrees, and one had an undergraduate degree from another field. Three of the four teachers held graduate degrees. Finally, all of the participants had 12-plus years in education.

The consenting participants' interviews were scheduled based on their availability. Moreover, the interviews lasted approximately 30 minutes, allowing the respondents to provide their perspectives on social workers' involvement with PBIS, exclusionary discipline, and the roles of social workers. Each interview was audio-recorded via *Zoom* and transcribed using the online version of *Microsoft 365*, which has a component that allows premium subscribers to transcribe videos into the web version of Word (Gunnell, 2020). Additionally, to analyze and make sense of the perspectives provided by the participants, I utilized Braun and Clarke's six-phase framework for conducting thematic analysis, which includes becoming familiar with the data, generating the initial codes, searching for themes, reviewing themes, defining themes, and writing up the results (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). Furthermore, this framework assists the researcher in fully understanding the data (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017).

For the first phase of the thematic analysis process, I became familiar with the data by consistently reading and re-reading transcripts. Thus, the responses were read repeatedly and cross-referenced with the audio recordings to ascertain the transcription's correctness and to fully conceptualize the participants' perspectives. Primarily, the research questions and answers were placed into a *Microsoft Excel* worksheet, with each comment placed into a column (see Bree & Gallagher, 2016). *Microsoft Excel* is a

software spreadsheet program used for data analysis and documentation (University of Washington, 2023). The cells in the spreadsheet hold one piece of data, which makes information more accessible to view and find meaning in the data (University of Washington, 2023).

Phase 2 involved developing the initial codes. Coding facilitates breaking the data into meaningful parts (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). Furthermore, the coding process is conceptualized by the researcher's perspectives and the research questions (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). Therefore, I utilized inductive and deductive analysis to conceptualize my perspectives on the data. Inductive analysis is a process where meaning in raw data is used to develop codes and themes (Bingham & Witkowsky, 2022; Dawadi, 2020;) whereas deductive analysis is a process of generating codes and themes based on literature, theory, and research questions (Bingham & Witkowsky, 2022). Additionally, the data were reviewed to locate codes (see Bree & Gallagher, 2016). The cells and codes were color-coded as Microsoft Excel uses a color-coding tool that sorts cells and data into a color scheme (Bree & Gallagher, 2016).

Phase 3 of the Braun and Clarke model focuses on generating themes (Dawadi, 2020; Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). This step in the analysis process is crucial as it indicates the relationship between patterns in the data set or participant responses.

Moreover, it is beneficial to the development of themes in this phase to be cognizant of the research questions (Dawadi, 2020), thus utilizing deductive analysis. Furthermore, in this phase, it is imperative to revisit the transcripts before aligning codes to themes (Dawadi, 2020).

Phase 4 of the Braun and Clarke model guides the researcher to align all the themes and subthemes. This phase, as in the abovementioned phases, the transcripts are reread to ascertain validity (Dawadi, 2020). This step also allows a researcher to understand whether themes are relevant and related to the research question (Dawadi, 2020). During this phase, themes can be either merged or deleted altogether.

Additionally, the researcher can review and rename themes. Therefore, at this step, utilizing deductive analysis, I revisited the table and the spreadsheet to provide clarity of the phrases. In addition, I merged themes and created subthemes.

Phase 5 of Braun and Clarke's framework focuses on providing meaning to the themes (Dawadi, 2020; Maguire & Delahunt, 2017). The meaning of the themes should be clear. Moreover, the definition and meaning of the themes should be developed with the research question and the literature in mind (Dawadi, 2020). As the themes were assigned meaning, they were also assigned a narrative from the participants' perspectives (see Dawadi, 2020).

The final stage of the model involves the writing of the report. Braun and Clarke (2006, as cited in Dawadi, 2020) expressed that the writing report stage "of a thematic analysis must convince the readers of the merit and validity of the analysis" (p. 70). Moreover, the researcher must capture the participants' perspectives of the phenomenon and exemplify those perspectives with the excerpts from the participants. Considering this concept, I extracted the participants' responses to each question into a table. Table 1 displays the themes that evolved from the participants' perspectives. Also highlighted

were the questions impacting each theme. Ten questions were documented per participant (i.e., social worker and teachers).

Table 1

Interview Questions and Related Initial Themes

Theme	Social worker interview questions	Teacher interview questions	
Exclusionary discipline	10	10	
Roles	1, 2, 8, 10	1, 2, 9, 10	
Social workers' impact on exclusionary discipline	3, 4, 5, 9	9, 10	
Perspective of PBIS		3, 4, 6, 8	

After the initial codes were generated, I reviewed the data again to align the data to redefine the themes. The overall findings suggested that social workers' roles were consistent with support services. In addition, the social workers had little to no involvement on the exclusion of Black males from the high school setting and on the utilization of PBIS. Six themes emerged in the examination of the research questions, interview questions, and participants' responses: (a)suspension of Black males—the social problem of putting Black males out of school based on their behavior; (b) support services, which defines the specific title and participants' perspective of the work social workers provide with high school students; (c) social workers have had some involvement with Black male students, which details the effect social workers have had on Black males being suspended or expelled from the high school setting, a subtheme of social work referral process; (d) concepts of PBIS, which details the problems of implementing

PBIS; and (f) social workers' involvement with PBIS, which describes what responsibilities social workers have regarding PBIS. These themes helped me understand educators' perspectives. The absence of substantial support for Black male high school students was evident.

Table 2 provides an illustration of the participants' perspectives. The table contains the themes, the number of participants who provided similar responses, the number of excerpts, and a sample of the responses. Furthermore, the table characterized the participants' thoughts of the roles social workers perform in impacting PBIS and the exclusion of Black males from the high school setting. Each participant shared, from their viewpoint, the manner in which social workers are utilized on their respective campuses and practices. These support services include behavior specialists, mental health counselors, and social workers. Additionally, their perspectives demonstrated the lack of involvement social workers have in the implementation of PBIS. Moreover, participants' responses indicated that clarity around expectations regarding the referral process and what all falls under the social worker's umbrella is still needed. Finally, the responses suggested that social workers have little to no impact with the exclusionary discipline of Black male students in the high school setting.

Table 2

Emergent Themes

Themes	No. of participant	No. of excerpts	Sample excerpts
Suspension of Black males	5	5	I don't have the facts, but it's always very high numbers amongst our Black males that contribute to our suspension rates or alternative school placements.
Support services	5	5	In the position that I'm in, I work under the Office of Exceptional Education. So, I do behavior intervention plans. I may do classroom observations within the classroom setting of students, as well as behavior intervention plans, and functional behavior assessments.
Social workers have had some involvement with Black male high school students	5	21	I think that if we weren't involved, I think they would be suspended a whole lot more. You know, so I think that the social workers have actually helped in trying to reduce the number of out-of-school suspensions for Black males.
Concept of PBIS	5	8	Teachers and students must receive feedback on "what do you think you did, right" as well as "what do you think you need to improve on."
Barriers to PBIS	5	24	Although he follows through with it, he himself does not buy into the whole PBIS, but he does comply with the rules and procedures around PBIS." Teachers 1 and reflect on student buy-in.
Social worker involvement with PBIS	3	3	When PBIS first started in our district, our role was to serve as coaches or specialists. These titles were used to describe the duties and responsibilities linked to developing a PBIS action plan.

Findings

The research participants for this generic research study consisted of four teachers and one social worker. Four of the participants had master's degrees. All the participants had 12-plus years in the field of education. Additionally, four of the participants viewed

exclusion as any disciplinary practice that isolates students from their classroom environment and includes in-school suspension, out-of-school suspension, and expulsion. One teacher viewed expulsion as taking students out of the classroom and denying them access to instruction and school-based support services.

The findings in this generic qualitative study are documented and discussed in the following subsections as themes that will be linked to direct quotes from the participants. Additionally, the excerpts of the quotes have been adjusted for readability and clarity, while keeping the integrity of the respondents' position. This information highlights the participants' understanding of the identified variables included in this study, thus allowing readers to understand through the research participants lens, how social work involvement impacts both PBIS and Black males on high school campuses.

The first research question focuses on high school social workers' and high school teachers' description of social workers' work to reduce the exclusionary discipline of Black male students. Themes developed from the participants' responses were suspension of Black males, support services, social workers have had some involvement with Black male students, and a subtheme of referral process.

Theme 1: Suspension of Black Males

The participants viewed that suspension and alternative school placement is high amongst Black male high school students. Teacher 2 expressed "it's always very high numbers amongst our Black males that contribute to our suspension rates or alternative school placements." Teacher 1 acknowledged that schools must take a stance on violent infractions such as weapons, gang activity, and fighting. However, also verbalized, "more of our young

Black men are being suspended, at an alarming rate" for behaviors such as "skipping." Teacher 1 and Teacher 2 alluded that those Black suspensions contribute to Black male students "lack of effective communication." Teacher 1 viewed talking loudly as a part of Black culture. Therefore, placing Black students in situations where they must be quiet and "not able to express ourselves becomes a handicap." Teacher 3 voiced similar perspective stating,

Communication is an extreme barrier that our Black males deal with on a daily basis. A lot of them don't feel like they can communicate. They don't know how to communicate. Because they don't know how to communicate, it might cause an aggressive situation. Or some type of negative situation you know that could have been prevented if they learned how to communicate better, how to express their feelings, how to specifically tell someone what they need, or how they are feeling.

Theme 2: Support Services

Support services, the second theme, was emphasized to illuminate participants' perspectives on social workers' tasks on high school campuses. In addition, support services also describe how administrators were using social workers with Black males, PBIS, and discipline. The perspectives convey that their social workers performed tasks consistent with advocacy and a support system for students when they have emotional needs or problems at home. Teacher 1 alludes to social workers in that they have the flexibility and time to provide one-on-one interventions with students and parents.

Teacher 1 stated, "They can go places that teachers can go but don't have the time to go or are not able to go. They can contact parents and students." Additionally, Teacher 2

stated, "The social worker is there to provide social and emotional support to students that need it. When students are having adverse childhood experiences or difficult moments, social workers are there for them."

Teachers 1, 2, 3, and 4 share the perspective of social workers' roles, including being more clinical, performing as mental health counselors and social workers. Teacher 3 stated, "Our social worker is able to meet with high school students, and you know, she's only responsible for the high school students. And I also know she does more of the clinical counseling our students receive." Social Worker 1 communicated that her duties fall under the office of exceptional services as a behavior specialist, thus only working with children receiving special education services. The social worker stated, "I may do classroom observations within the classroom setting for students, as well as behavior intervention plans and functional behavior assessments (FBAs)." However, this participant expressed those tasks such as home visits, support services, and referrals are not totally outside of their job description and can be made if necessary.

Theme 3: Social Workers Have had Some Involvement with Black High School Students

This theme developed from the framework of this generic qualitative study, which focused on social workers' impact on the exclusion of Black males from the high school setting. Moreover, this theme encompassed the teachers' interview protocol that asked for the participants' perspectives on the correlation between exclusionary discipline and the social worker's role. Additionally, this theme included the social worker interview protocol, which asked several questions focusing on social workers' involvement with

discipline, discipline policies, and the social worker's impact on Black males' exclusion from the high school setting.

The participants expressed varied opinions on social workers' impact on the exclusion of Black males on the high school campus. Additionally, the participants view social workers as an intervention to decrease student suspension. Teacher 1 conveyed that " in lieu of suspension," the student would have to participate in sessions with the social worker. "Social worker 1, Teacher 1. Teacher 2, and Teacher 4 share the opinion that social workers have had an impact on the suspension of Black males from the high school campus. Teacher 1 implied, "I would imagine it has some impact on the number of out-of-school suspensions Black male students receive." Social worker 1 indicated that their involvement has decreased the number of suspensions. Social worker 1 responded,

I think that if we weren't involved, they would be suspended a lot more. I think that the social workers have helped in trying to reduce the number of out-of-school suspensions African American male students receive.

Teacher 3 conveyed a different opinion, referencing, "Speaking of African male students, that I have had that have gone through the expulsion process and whatnot. I don't necessarily think that they have been in contact with the social worker."

This theme also focused on the social worker's perspective of their use in the disciplinary process. Social worker 1 acknowledges not being invited by administrators (principals) for direct input in the discipline of students. Additionally Social Worker expressed, "I've never been asked, 'What are some things you think we should do or how should we go about doing this or handling this?" Social Worker 1 added, "We do not

currently function as a partnership. Our opinion is not asked, nor valued." However, in response to involvement from the school district level, Social Worker 1 acknowledged being asked by the school district to complete a survey on the code of conduct.

Although the participants agree that social workers are providing support to Black males from the high school setting, they believe the involvement should start before students have significant behavior problems and should be available to general education and students receiving special education. Teacher 1 stated, "I think the social worker could serve as an interventionist to support children." Teacher 4 communicated, "Maybe we could help them sooner to minimize expulsion." Social worker 1 acknowledges services are tiered only to students receiving services under the Office of Exceptional Services. Therefore, providing interventions to students receiving special education. However, Teacher 4 conveyed social workers should be accessible to students "whether they have a special education ruling or not." Teacher 3 communicated, "A lot of kids are overlooked because they do not have a Tier 3 behavior plan, though they exemplify those behaviors."

Subtheme: Referral Process

The participants perceive the social worker's role as a necessary intervention to impact the suspension rate. Participants expressed similar perspectives, articulating that social workers could provide Black male students with behavior strategies. Teachers 1, 2, and 4 concur that social worker involvement would help to facilitate Black males' ability to respond appropriately in the high school setting. However, there is a convoluted process of how students are referred to or receive social work services. Teacher 2 pointed

out, "Our leadership team needs to make sure they are involved in those conversations. When students are getting into trouble, and they see it's a social or emotional response, they should involve the social workers." As mentioned, students receiving special education services can receive assistance through the behavior specialist. Social worker 1 reported that if a child needed assistance the "administrator would make a referral to the department of exceptional services. However, Teachers 1, 2,3, and 4 expressed mixed processes of how students receive support from the social worker. Teachers 1 and 2 specify that administrators make referrals to the social worker. Teacher 4 conveys that the counselor refers students to the social worker because they are "the front line." However, students may have several problems "before an issue is highlighted."

The second research question for this generic qualitative study focused on "How do social workers and high school teachers in various counties in Southern Mississippi describe the PBIS framework's influence on student behavior?" The themes generated from this research question include concepts of PBIS, which details the participants' views of PBIS, and barriers to PBIS which included the sub-themes of: (a) buy-in, stakeholders' acceptance of PBIS, (b) time, how much time the model takes to implement, (c) social and emotional needs of students, emotional and home environment problems students come to (d) testing and academics, providing quality instruction.

Theme 4: Concept of PBIS

I generated the fourth theme to ascertain the participants' understanding of the PBIS framework. The PBIS framework is centered on providing students rewards for demonstrating positive behavior. These outcomes are student-focused on giving rewards

and incentives, motivation, and feedback to all. Teacher 1 stated, "The use of PBIS is two-fold. The PBIS framework gives students something to work towards while highlighting how we, as a school, focus on the positive behaviors of students." Teacher 2 communicated, "PBIS is a way of life." In addition, "the focus is on positive outcomes for students."

Moreover, Teacher 1 viewed a reward as "motivation." Teachers 3 and 2 communicate that the reward must be something the student views as valuable. "Teacher 1 stated students would be willing to work for a reward "if you can find the reward that the students really desire." Furthermore, PBIS requires feedback. Teacher 1 notes teachers and students must receive feedback on "what do you think you did, right" as well as "what do you think you need to improve on."

Tier 1 and Tier 2 interventions are part of the context for PBIS. Tier 1 refers to what is needed for all students, whereas Tiers 2 and 3 refer to the students whose needs are slightly more significant in reading, mathematics, and behavior. Noteworthy is that three out of five participants agree that teachers were not doing tier 1 and tier 2 interventions at all or that the teachers were using the interventions with inconsistencies. Teacher 1 reflects on the low ratio of students in the alternative school setting being consistent for tier 1 and tier 2 interventions and counselors coming to the campus to provide tier 3 or one-on-one interventions. However, Teacher 1 acknowledges that "we are not doing (PBIS interventions) how it is described in the literature." Teacher 3 stated,

I don't see the impact. This may be because interventions are inconsistently implemented at my school throughout the school. The school may need to incorporate or hire an interventionist to facilitate this process.

Theme 5: Barriers to PBIS

As mentioned above, the participants acknowledged that with the consistent implementation of PBIS, the framework could effectively decrease the exclusionary discipline of Black males in the high school setting. This theme emerged to understand the participants' perspective on the difficulties in implementing the PBIS framework in the high school setting. The participants' perspectives included testing and academics, social-emotional needs, buy-in, culture, and time.

Subtheme 1: Buy-In

Both teachers and students must buy-in (compliance) with the PBIS framework. Teacher 1 stated, "If the complete buy-in is lacking, what happens in my classroom will not benefit the entire school." Teacher 3 reflected on a teacher who teaches upper-level courses and does not buy into certain rewards such as "missed class time." Additionally. Teacher 3 stated, "Although he follows through with it, he does not buy into the whole PBIS, but he does comply with the rules and procedures around PBIS." Teachers 1 and 3 reflect on student buy-in. Teacher 1 indicates that the teachers must promptly provide the students with rewards after the student has demonstrated the appropriate behavior. Consistent with Teacher 1, Teacher 3 referenced a lack of student buy-in, saying, "It takes too long for them to receive a benefit. Social worker 1 indicated,

I think the first thing needed is to get all stakeholders to buy-in and actively participate. Resources must be set aside upfront to ensure everyone's follow through. If students know what to expect upfront, that may increase their buy-in.

Subtheme 2: Time

The participants express time as a barrier to the effectiveness of PBIS. According to Teacher 1, "The biggest part is you must set aside time to implement PBIS with fidelity." Consistent with Teacher 1, Teacher 3 refers to teachers not having time to implement PBIS due to class size. Teacher 3 said, "So, I find that teachers who are overloaded don't engage, and this rubs off on students." Social worker 1 also reflects on time as a barrier but recognizes that PBIS is an effective intervention. Therefore, teachers should allocate time to implement PBIS with fidelity. Social worker 1 stated,

Time is a thing. You do have to set aside the time to have your meetings to do what needs to be done to set up PBIS implementation. Time does play a role in things, as it is a limited resource. Though there is a lot going on, I think PBIS is just as important as everything else because, if done correctly, it can positively impact the school and the community. Everyone can flourish by focusing on the positive behaviors of students.

Subtheme 3: Social and Emotional

The participants convey that the emotional and home environment problems students come to school with are a barrier to PBIS implementation. Moreover, they need social workers to intervene and provide interventions. Teacher 1 stated "that until students' problems are dealt with, PBIS will not be effective." Teacher 3 added that some

students "have habitual attendance issues" related to "culture." Meanwhile, Social Worker 1 and Teacher 4 communicate profound perspectives on students' social and emotional needs. Social Worker 1 articulated, "There is a myriad of barriers associated with PBIS. There are some educators who lack understanding of what the whole child encompasses and how that impacts their cognitive, social, emotional, and behavioral development."

Teacher 4 said,

I think that we are faced with so many more challenges now than ever before. It is getting more difficult to help students navigate and grow. And as teachers, we try to teach them the correct way to navigate through life. I think the social worker is important because many of our children come to school angry about something. Sometimes, they (children) become delusional about some things. Additionally, some of our children are raising themselves. They don't understand their role when it comes to school life; they're confused when they come from a home life where they have to defend themselves, and then come to school and try to behave like a child and not as an adult.

Subtheme 4: Testing and Academics

Testing and academics emerged as a theme because high school teachers focus on graduation requirements. Therefore, don't have the time to implement the rewards and activities component of PBIS. Teacher 4 iterated, "We have such a strict curriculum that we have to follow." Consistent with Teacher 4, Teacher 3 stated, "Some teachers feel that PBIS pulls students away from learning. Learning is more important than celebrating the

positive behaviors of students." Teacher 2 stated, "Students need certain grades to be eligible to graduate." "So, focusing on the aspects of PBIS is not a primary focus of theirs.".

The third research question from this generic qualitative study inquired, "How do social workers and high school teachers in various counties in Southern Mississippi describe social workers' roles in the implementation of PBIS with male Black students?" I generated one theme for the question: social workers' involvement in PBIS - describes what responsibilities social workers have with PBIS.

Theme 6: Social Worker Involvement with PBIS

This theme was developed to understand social workers' impact on implementing PBIS. I interpreted their perspective of social workers' impact on PBIS by describing how they observe social workers' involvement with PBIS. From the participants' perspective, social workers have not significantly influenced the PBIS framework. Teacher 4 conveyed, "We don't have as many social workers on the PBIS committee." Teacher 1 communicated that social workers have had "some impact" and would like to have social workers as consultants or coaches to assist in PBIS training." However, Teacher 3 and Social Worker 1 do not perceive the social worker as impacting PBIS. Teacher 3 stated, "I hate to say this, but I don't know that the social worker knows a lot about PBIS. Additionally, I don't think she plays a large part in our implementation of PBIS." Social Worker 1 reflected on when the PBIS framework was introduced, stating,

When PBIS first started in our district, our role was to serve as coaches or specialists. These titles were used to describe the duties and responsibilities linked

to developing a PBIS action plan. This plan was done to guide the implementation of the program, not the people. That was our role initially. I really have no role at this point regarding the implementation of PBIS. Unfortunately, it is almost nonexistent and inconsistent throughout our district.

Summary

The purpose of this generic qualitative study was to explore the social worker's role in the implementation of PBIS and exclusionary discipline of Black high school male students, as well as the PBIS influence on Black male exclusion rate. Overall, findings suggested that social workers have little to no involvement with the exclusionary discipline of Black male students in the high school setting. Social workers' direct roles are as behavior specialists and mental health counselors. However, the social workers' involvement with students is impeded by who is supposed to refer the student to social work services. Clarity around expectations regarding the referral process and what all fall under the social worker's umbrella are still needed.

In reference to PBIS, social workers are not involved in implementing the framework. Moreover, PBIS has not had a substantial influence on the Black male exclusionary discipline rate. However, if the administrators and faculty implemented the PBIS model with fidelity, it could have an impact on improving student behavior and the climate of the campus. Finally, interventions to improve Black male students' social and emotional needs are needed to improve student behavior. This final section bridges the findings from section 3 to social work practice in the educational setting. Section 4 consists of the introduction, application for professional ethics in social work practice,

recommendation for social work practice, implications for social change, and the summary.

Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social Change

Introduction

This generic qualitative study aimed to understand teachers' and social workers' perspectives of the roles social workers have in implementing PBIS and their impact on the exclusion of Black male students from the high school setting. In addition, this study aimed to understand the influence PBIS has on excluding Black males from the high school setting. Due to zero-tolerance disciplinary policies, racial and cultural bias, and lack of social and emotional interventions, Black male students are pushed out and excluded from the high school environment This generic qualitative study aimed to understand teachers' and social workers' perspectives of the roles social workers have in implementing PBIS and their impact on the exclusion of Black male students from the high school setting. In addition, this study aimed to understand the influence PBIS has on excluding Black males from the high school setting. Due to zero-tolerance disciplinary policies, racial and cultural bias, and lack of social and emotional interventions, Black male students are pushed out and excluded from the high school environment (Anzalone, 2015; Kennedy et al., 2015; Teasley et al., 2017). This study used a descriptive qualitative design, thus allowing me to understand teachers' and social workers' perspectives on the impact of PBIS implementation in their current practice and school campus. In Section 4, I discuss the application of the findings in relation to the NASW Code of Ethics, social work practice, recommendation for additional research, and implication for social change. The OST, as described in Section 1, was utilized as the base theoretical framework to illustrate the application of both the individual (micro) and

organization (macro) to conceptualize the behaviors of the organization to promote change (Kretchmar, 2019).

Additionally, this qualitative generic study is significant as it has the potential to influence the roles social workers can play in student support, administration, and policymaking, thereby impacting the exclusionary discipline of Black males in high school settings. Overall, findings suggested that social workers do not have substantial involvement with the exclusionary discipline of Black male students in the high school setting. Social workers' direct roles are as behavior specialists and mental health counselors. However, the social workers' involvement with students is impeded by who is supposed to refer the student to obtain social work services. Clarity around expectations regarding the referral process and what all fall under the social worker's umbrella are still needed.

Regarding PBIS, social workers are not involved in implementing the framework. Moreover, PBIS has had minimal influence on the Black male exclusionary discipline rate. However, if the high school faculty implemented the PBIS model with fidelity, it could significantly improve student behavior. Finally, interventions to improve Black male students' social and emotional needs are needed to facilitate positive academic outcomes and provide skills to empower Black males to become productive members of society.

Application to Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice

The NASW Code of Ethics provides social workers with seven principles to guide their social work practice. Social workers are responsible for increasing their knowledge

and skills to expand their efficiency in providing services. This increase in knowledge is achieved by continuous education, professional development, and research. Social workers work in host settings, agencies in which social workers are guests and are employed to provide support services (Teasley, 2018). Moreover, social workers are challenged with adhering to the NASW S Code of Ethics and the host agency's policies.

As social workers strive to advocate for social justice and social change within host settings, a conflict of interest can arise between the NASW Code of Ethics and the agency's policies. NASW Code of Ethics Standard 3.09 directs social workers to follow the host agency's policies until situations conflict with the NASW Code of Ethics (Murray, 2021). As school social workers advocate for social change regarding the exclusion of Black males in high school settings, they must educate administrators and stakeholders on the social work code of ethics to mitigate ethical conflicts (Murray, 2021). The cohesion of the school social workers and stakeholders is imperative for impacting the experience of Black males in high school settings and promoting social change.

Recommendations for Social Work Practice

The impact exclusionary discipline has on Black males also has a direct effect on society. Social workers are involved in intervening on the micro, mezzo, and macro level. These interventions include direct practice with students, educating school facilities, and engaging the community. This generic qualitative study aimed to explore teachers' and social workers' perspectives of social workers' role in PBIS and the exclusion of Black males. Moreover, the findings of this research provided me, as an advanced practitioner,

with evidence-based research to promote social change. This social change would include lobbying mezzo and macro systems for additional employment and involvement of social workers in the high school setting.

Furthermore, the findings of this generic qualitative study are applicable and transferable to the broader field of social work practice and social change. Social workers in any field, including clinical social work practice, should adhere to and follow the NASW Code of Ethics and Competencies. Most importantly, any field of social work practice should incorporate evidence-based research to implement best practices and interventions. The research findings will be disseminated by providing this research study to stakeholders via a report. Additionally, this study will be published in the ProQuest database for access to the academic community. This study indicated recommendations for practice in several areas.

Implications for Further Research

The replication of this generic qualitative study could be beneficial in several aspects. Primarily, this study could provide additional knowledge for social work practice by studying students from elementary education and secondary (middle school and high school) education. Statistics from the OCR (2021) illustrate a trend where Black male students are receiving exclusionary discipline as early as kindergarten. Furthermore, extending the research to the elementary level would also increase the participant pool, as demographics from several potential participants indicated that they only worked with elementary students. Therefore, including participants from all educational grade bands (i.e., K-5, 6-8, 9-12) would allow for an increased number of social work participants,

thus increasing data on social workers' impact on excluding Black male students in the high school setting. Continued research with participants in regular education can potentially increase social work competencies with PBIS fidelity and Black males.

Implications for Social Change

The avenues for individuals to have the capacity to be productive members of society purport the goals of social change. Social justice is a core principle of the NASW Code of Ethics. The NASW Code of Ethics also encourages social workers to be catalysts for social change. Social workers must apply all the standards in practice, particularly competence and providing service to facilitate social change. They must also have an essential role in educational settings. Social workers' roles in educational settings and social change align with the OST. Within OST, schools are viewed as systems because they use inputs such as teachers, social workers, and feedback from outputs or the community as change agents to achieve shared goals (Lunenburg, 2010). Moreover, the concept of schools as a system is consistent with the role of school social work as both entities engage with the micro, mezzo, and macro levels of society's socioeconomic and political entities (Lunenburg, 2010).

At the micro level, social workers in educational settings utilize knowledge and data to engage with students and families to improve student outcomes. The data on how to meet the needs of students on a micro level are generated by providing needs assessments (Illinois State Board of Education & Illinois Association of School Social Workers, 2020). Social workers must be visible and able to provide social work services to students receiving special and regular education services. Social workers provide direct

services to assist students and families in identifying needs and achieving positive outcomes. The research participants noted that students bring several barriers related to socio-emotional development, communication problems, and physiological needs to school.

Students may demonstrate disruptive behaviors if their physiological needs, such as food, housing, and clothing, are not being met (Burleson & Thoron, 2014). Therefore, it is necessary for social workers to be directly involved in developing student intervention plans. Moreover, social workers should utilize their practice skills to provide support and counseling services to meet the psychological needs of students. School social workers also refer students and families to appropriate community resources to assist with nutrients, shelter, and other community resources (Illinois State Board of Education & Illinois Association of School Social Workers, 2020).

Mezzo level practice at the school district and school site address the need to change disciplinary policies and implement research-based strategies to impact disproportional racial suspension and improve the school climate. Educational mezzo level social work interventions apply knowledge and data from research as feedback to promote change at the school site, district, and community levels. The call for social change can be evidenced by the research participants' perspectives and the literature on the impact of exclusionary discipline. Secondly, the lack of available social workers for this research study at the high school level illustrated the need for additional social workers in the high school setting coupled with expanding the study. Moreover, social workers can advocate to the school district to increase the number of social work staff

members and develop a social work referral process. Social workers also need to educate the community stakeholders on the impact of the exclusion of Black males and how interventions are needed to facilitate Black male students' ability to function productively in society.

Educational macro social work practice interventions indirectly facilitate social change by advocating the strengthening of both micro and macro social work practice (McBeath, 2016). Additionally, macro level practice aids in the continued awareness of social problems to entities that can facilitate change on a larger level. According to McBeath (2016), macro-level social work practice collaborates with various organizations, engages larger institutions to advocate for policies, solicits funding for organizational change and research, and works within influencing organizations.

Therefore, social workers in educational settings should advocate for national awareness of the implications of the exclusionary discipline of Black male high school students.

Furthermore, educational social workers, at the macro level, should engage state and federal education organizations for policies to require school districts to employ social workers and design how they should be utilized per student ratio. Finally, macro-level social work interventions should advocate for funding from the state and federal government to assist school districts in positively impacting the lives of Black males.

Summary

The exclusionary discipline of Black males has been researched extensively (Harper et al., 2019). The impact of PBIS on improving the school climate has also been documented; however, the phenomenon of exclusionary discipline of Black males

persists in those school systems that utilize PBIS (Baule, 2020). Additionally, there needs to be more literature on the roles social workers have in the implementation of PBIS and their impact on the exclusion of Black males. Four teachers and one social worker expressed their perspectives on the slight impact social workers have on the exclusion of Black male high school students and PBIS. Primarily, social workers' direct roles are inclusive of behavior specialists and mental health counselors. The social worker participant for the generic qualitative study noted that the title of school social worker changed to a behavior specialist in the office of exceptional services. Therefore, having no involvement with regular education students and having no involvement with disciplinary infractions at the school site is not beneficial. Furthermore, social workers are not involved with the direct implementation of PBIS. Moreover, if PBIS was used with fidelity within the high school setting, it could mitigate the rates at which Black males are excluded from high school.

This generic qualitative study utilized a semi structured interview protocol to explore teachers' and social workers' perceptions of social workers' impact on PBIS and the exclusion of Black males from the high school setting. The participants gave meaningful perspectives that I categorized into six themes: (a) suspension of Black males, (b) support services, (c) social workers have had some involvement with Black male high school students, (d) concepts of PBIS, (e) barriers to PBIS, (f) social worker involvement with PBIS. The findings of this study can heighten social work practice by providing evidence-based research strategies to guide and advance school social work practice. More profoundly, the findings of this study can provide research to inform

policymakers and school districts of the positive impact social workers can have on the exclusion of Black male high school students, thus facilitating Black male students' ability to function.

References

- American Psychological Association. (2019). *The pathway from exclusionary discipline* to the school to prison pipeline. https://www.apa.org/advocacy/health-disparities/discipline-facts.pdf
- Anderson, K. P., & Ritter, G. W. (2017). Disparate use of exclusionary discipline: evidence on inequities in school discipline from a U.S. state. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 25(49). https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.25.2787
- Anderson, K. P., Ritter, G. W., & Boyd, A. (2017). Do school discipline policies treat students fairly? A second look at school discipline rate disparities. *SSRN Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2700707
- Anzalone, J. A. (2015). Educators' perspectives on secondary education alternative placement, student recidivism, and treatment models [Doctoral study, Walden University]. Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies.

 https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/739
- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using Zoom videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: Perceptions and experiences of researchers and participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596
- Atlanta Public Schools. (2023, March, 06). *Social work services*. https://www.atlantapublicschools.us/page/195
- Barnes, J. C., & Motz, R. T. (2018). Reducing racial inequalities in adulthood arrest by reducing inequalities in school discipline: Evidence from the school-to-prison.

- pipeline. *Developmental Psychology*, *54*(12), 2328-2340. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000613
- Barrett, N., McEachin, A., Mills, J. N., & Valant, J. (2017, November 20). Disparities in student discipline by race and family income. Education Research Alliance for New Orleans. https://educationresearchalliancenola.org/files/publications/010418-Barrett-McEachin-Mills-Valant-Disparities-in-Student-Discipline-by-Race-and-Family-Income.pdf
- Baule, S. M. (2020). The impact of positive behavior intervention support on suspensions by race and ethnicity in an urban school district. *AASA Journal of Scholarship & Practice*, 16(4), 45-56.

 https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A615108541/AONE?u=anon~83ceca2d&sid=googleScholar&xid=04343859
- Bayram, S. (2019, November 22). JPS reports lower suspensions overall, but more discipline of high school students. *Jackson Free Press*.

 https://www.jacksonfreepress.com/news/2019/nov/22/jps-reports-lower-suspensions-overall-higher-high-/
- Bell, C. (2015). The hidden side of zero-tolerance policies: The Black perspective. Sociology Compass, 9(1), 14-22. https://doi.org/10.1111/soc4.12230
- Bingham, A. J., & Witkowsky, P. (2022). Deductive and inductive approaches to qualitative data analysis. In C. Vanover, P. Mihas, & J. Saldaña (Eds.), *Analyzing and interpreting qualitative data: After the interview* (pp. 133-146). SAGE Publications.

- Bree, R. & Gallagher, G. (2016). Using Microsoft Excel to code and thematically analyze qualitative data: A simple, cost-effective approach. *All Ireland Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education (AISHE-J)*, 8(2), 2811-28114.

 https://ojs.aishe.org/index.php/aishe-j/article/view/281
- Burleson, S. E., & Thoron, A. C. (2014). Maslow's hierarchy of needs and its relation to learning and achievement. *Extension Data Information Source*. https://doi.org/10.32473/edis-wc159-2014
- Bush, E. J., Singh, R. L., & Kooienga, S. (2019). Lived experiences of a community:

 Merging interpretive phenomenology and community-based participatory

 research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, 1-12.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919875891
- Cardichon, J., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2019). *Protecting students' civil rights: The federal role in school discipline*. Learning Policy Institute.
- Coffelt, T. A. (2017). Confidentiality and anonymity of participants. In M. Allen (Ed.),

 The SAGE encyclopedia of communication research methods (pp. 227-230). Sage.

 https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483381411.n86
- Columbia Public Health. (n.d.). *Content analysis*.

 https://www.publichealth.columbia.edu/research/population-health-methods/content-analysis
- Copley, A. J. (2019). *Qualitative research methods: A practice-oriented introduction for students of psychology and education* (2nd ed.). Zinātne. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.3095.6888

- Council on Social Work Education. (2015). Council on Social Work Education 2015

 educational competencies. https://www.bu.edu/ssw/files/2016/07/CSWE-2015-Competencies.pdf
- Darensbourg, A., Perez, E., & Blake, J. J. (2010). Overrepresentation of Black males in exclusionary discipline: The role of school-based mental health professionals in dismantling the school to prison pipeline. *Journal of Black Males in Education*, 1(3), 196-211.
- Dawadi, S. (2020). Thematic analysis approach: A step by step guide for ELT research practitioners. *Journal of NELTA*, 25(1-2), 62-71.

 https://doi.org/10.3126/nelta.v25i1-2.49731
- D'orio, W. (2018). Is school discipline reform moving too fast. *The Atlantic*.

 https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2018/01/is-school-discipline-reform-moving-too-fast/550196/
- Downard, W. (2019, May 21). City of Meridian to leave 'school to prison pipeline' lawsuit. *The Meridian Star*. https://www.meridianstar.com/news/local_news/city-of-meridian-to-leave school-to-prison-pipeline-lawsuit/article_14449386-e3ce-50f5-930b-b5716c4aaefd.html
- Duran, L. (2020). School discipline as a turning point: The cumulative effect of suspensions (Publication No. 37995564) [Doctoral dissertation, Azusa Pacific University]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Ebue, M., Uche, O. & Agha, A. (2017). Levels of intervention in social work. In U.

 Okoye, N. Chukwu, & P. Agwu. (Eds.). *Social work in Nigeria: Book of readings*

- (pp. 84-92). University of Nigeria Press.
- Eddles-Hirsch, K. (2015). Phenomenology and educational research. *International Journal of Advanced Research*, *3*(8), 251-260. https://researchonline.nd.edu.au/edu_article/171/
- Eden, M. (2017). School discipline reform and disorder: Evidence from NYCPS, 2012-2016. https://www.manhattan-institute.org/html/school-discipline-reform-and-disorder-evidence-nyc-schools-10103.html
- Finigan-Carr, N., & Shaia, W. (2018). School social workers as partners in the school mission. *Phi Delta Kappan*. 99(7), 26-30. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031721718767856
- Fluke, S., & Peterson, R. L. (2013). *Positive behavior interventions & supports*. Strategy Brief. Student Engagement Project. University of Nebraska-Lincoln and the Nebraska Department of Education. https://k12engagement.unl.edu/strategy-briefs/PBIS%2012-17-15.pdf
- Freeman, J., Kern, L., Gambino, A. J., Lombardi, A., & Kowitt, J. (2019). Assessing the relationship between the positive behavior interventions and supports framework and student outcomes in high schools. *Journal of At-Risk Issues*, 22(2), 1–11. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1231342.pdf
- Gershenson, S., & Dee, T. S. (2017). *The insidiousness of unconscious bias in schools*.

 https://www.brookings.edu/blog/brown-center-chalkboard/2017/03/20/the-insidiousness-of-unconscious-bias-in-schools/
- Girvan, E. J., Gion, C., McIntosh, K., & Molkowski, K. (2017). The relative contribution

- of subjective office referrals to a racial disproportionality in school discipline. School Psychology Quarterly, 32(3), 392-404. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000613
- Gole, J. (2016, September 13). One out of five children have a mental illness, and schools often don't help. *Kaiser Health News*. https://www.pbs.org/newshour/health/one-five-children mental-illness-schools-often-don't-help
- Gopalan, M., & Nelson, A. A. (2019). Understanding the racial discipline gap in schools. *AERA Open*, 5(2), 1-26. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858419844613
- Gordon, N. (2018). *Disproportionality in student discipline: Connecting policy to*research. https://www.brookings.edu/research/sisproportionality-in-student-discipline-connectivity-policy-to-research/
- Gray, A. N., Sirinides, P. M., Fink, R., Flack, A., & DuBois, T. (2017). Discipline in context: Suspension, climate, and PBIS in the school district of Philadelphia.
 Consortium for Policy Research in Education.
 http://repository.upenn.edu/cpre_researchreports/106
- Gray, L. M., Wong-Wylie, G., Rempel, G. R., & Cook, K. (2020). Expanding qualitative research interviewing strategies: Zoom video communications. *The qualitative report*, 25(5), 1292-1301. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2020.4212
- Gunnell, M. (2020, August 28). How to Transcribe Audio in Microsoft Word. *How To Geek*. https://www.howtogeek.com/687218/how-to-transcribe-audio-in-microsoft-word/
- Harper, K., Ryberg, R., Temkin, D. (2019, April 29). Black students and students with

- disabilities remain more likely to receive out-of-school suspension, despite overall declines. *Child Trends*. https://www.childtrends.org/publications/black-students disabilities-out-of-school-suspensions
- Hattar, S. (2018). The academic impact of suspension on Black male students in an urban high school. Education Doctoral, 364, 1–119.

 https://fisherpub.sjf.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1367&context=education_et
 d
- Hattie, J., & Anderman, E. M. (2020). Visible learning guide to student achievement.

 Routledge Publishing.
- Houchens, G.W., Zhang, J., Davis, K., Nui, C., Hey Chon, K., & Miller. S. (2017). The impact of positive behavior interventions and supports on teachers' perceptions of teaching conditions and student achievement. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 19(3), 168-179. https://doi.org/10.117/1098300717696938
- Hwang, N. (2018). Suspensions and achievement: Varying links by type, frequency, and subgroup. *Educational Researcher*, 47(6), 363-374. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X18779579
- Illinois State Board of Education & Illinois Association of School Social Workers.

 (2020). School social work best practice guide.

 https://www.isbe.net/Documents/ISBE-IASSW-School-Social-Work-Guide.pdf
- Jager, J., Putnick, D. L., & Bornstein, M. H. (2017). II. More than just convenient: The scientific merits of homogeneous convenience samples. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 82(2), 13-30.

https://doi.org/10.1111/mono.12296

Jentoft, M., & Olsen, T. S. (2019). Against the flow in data collection: How data triangulation combined with a slow interview technique enriches data. *Qualitative Social Work: Research and Practice*, 18(2), 179-193. https://doi.org/10.1177.14733250177125

Jimenez, L., Rothman, M., Roth, E., Sargrad, S. (2018, June 15). Blueprint for accountability systems for alternative high schools. Center for American Progress.

https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education-k-12/reports/2018/06/15/452011/blueprint-accountability-systems-alternative-high-schools/

Kennedy, B. L., Acosta, M. M., & Soutullo, O. (2015). Counternarratives of students' experiences returning to comprehensive schools from an involuntary disciplinary alternative school. *Race, Ethnicity, and Education*, 22(1), 130-149.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13613324.2017.1376634

Kirwan Institute. (2019). Understanding implicit bias.

http://kirwaninstitute.osu/edu/research/understanding-implicit-bias

Kretchmar, J. (2019). Open organizations. Salem Press Encyclopedia.

Lacoe, J., & Steinberg, M. P. (2018). Do suspensions affect student outcomes?

Educational Evaluation and Policy Analyses, 44(1), 34-62.

https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373718794897

Lester, J. N., Cho, Y., & Lochmiller, C. R. (2020). Learning to Do Qualitative Data

Analysis: A Starting Point. Human Resource Development Review, 19(1), 94–

- 106. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484320903890
- Leung-Gagné, M., McCombs, J., Scott, C., & Losen, D. J. (2022). *Pushed out: Trends and disparities in out-of-school suspension*. Learning Policy Institute. https://doi.org/10.54300/235.277
- Leung L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. *Journal of family medicine and primary care*, 4(3), 324–327. https://doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Lindgren, B.-M., Lundman, B., & Graneheim, U. H. (2020). Abstraction and interpretation during the qualitative content analysis process. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 108, 103632. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103632
- Lindsay, C. A., & Hart, C. (2017). Exposure to same-race teachers and student disciplinary outcomes for clack students in North Carolina. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 39(3), 485-510. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373717693109.
- Lindsay, C. A., & Hart, C. M. D. (2021). Teacher race and school discipline. *Education Next*, 21(3), 7-15. https://www.educationnext.org/teacher-race-and-school-discipline-suspensions-research/
- Losen, D. J., & Whitaker, A. (2018, April). 11 million days lost: Race, discipline, and safety at U.S. Public Schools. The Center for Civil Rights Remedies.

 https://www.aclu.org/sites/default/files/field_document/final_11-million_days_ucla_aclu.pdf

- Lunenburg, F. C. (2010). Schools as open systems. *Schooling*, *1*(1).

 http://www.nationalforum.com/Electronic%20Journal%20Volumes/Lununburg,%20Fred20C.%20Schools%20as%20Open%20Systems%20Schooling%20V1%20
- Luster, S. (2018). How exclusionary discipline creates disconnected students.

 https://www.nea.org/advocating-for-change/new-from-nea/how-exclusionary-discipline-creates-disconnected-students

N1%202010.pdf

- Maguire, M., & Delahunt, B. (2017). Doing a thematic analysis: A practical, step-by-step guide for learning and teaching scholars. *All Ireland Journal of Higher Education*, 9(3).
 - https://www.researchgate.net/publication/349506918_Doing_a_Thematic_Analys_is_A_Practical_Step-by-Step_Guide
- Marchbanks, M. P., Blake, J. J., Booth, E. A., Carmichael, D., Seibert, A. L., & Fabelo,
 T. (2015). The economic effects of exclusionary discipline on grade retention and high school dropout. In D. J. Losen (Ed.), *Closing the school discipline gap:*Equitable remedies for excessive exclusion (pp. 17–30). Teachers College Press.
 https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7zc0c135
- Marston, G., & McDonald, C. (2012). Getting beyond Heroic Agency in conceptualizing social workers as policy actors in the twenty-first century. *British Journal of Social Work*, 42(6), 1022-1038. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcs062
- Mauldin, R. (2020). Foundations of social work research. Mavs Open Press. https://uta.pressbooks.pub/foundationsofsocialworkresearch/

- McBeath, Bowen, "Re-Envisioning Macro Social Work Practice" (2016). School of

 Social Work Faculty Publications and Presentations. 154.

 http://archives.pdx.edu/ds/psu/19363
- McCarter S., Venkitasubramanian, K., & Bradshaw, K. (2020). Addressing the school-to prison pipeline: Examining micro- and macro-level variables that affect school disengagement and subsequent felonies, Journal of Social Service Research, 46(3), 379-393. https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2019.1575323
- Mele, C., Pels, J., & Polese, F., (2010). A brief review of systems theories and their managerial applications. *Service Science* 2(1-2), 126-135. https://doi.org/10.1287/serv_2.1_2.126
- Merriam, S.B. & Tisdell, E.J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation: Vol. Fourth edition*. Jossey-Bass.

 https://www.clivar.org/sites/default/files/pdf-qualitative-research-a-guide-to-design-and-implementation-sharan-b-merriam-elizabeth-j-tisdell-pdf-download-free-book-0e3ba36.pdf
- Mississippi Data Project. (2017). Education Suspended: An overview of student suspensions in Mississippi's public schools. https://msdataproject.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Suspensions-Brief.pdf
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*. 24(1), 9-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Mowen, T., Brent, J. (2016). School discipline as a turning point: The cumulative effect

- of suspension on arrest. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 53(5), 628-653. https://doi.org/1077/0022427816643135
- Murray, A. (2021). Amendments NASW Code of Ethics: Self-care and cultural competence. *National Association of Social Workers*.

 https://www.socialworkers.org/About/Ethics/Code-of-Ethics
- National Association of Social Workers. (2012). *NASW standards for school social work***services. https://www.socialworkers.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=1Ze4-90s7E%3D&portalid=0
- National Association of Social Workers. (2021). *Code of ethics*.

 https://www.socialworkers.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=UyXb_VQ35QA%3d&portalid=0
- National Institute for Health. (2019 January 01). *How to disseminate your research*. https://www.nihr.ac.uk/documents/how-to-disseminate-your-research/19951
- Nowicki, J. M. (2018). *K-12 education: Discipline disparities for Black students, boys, and students with disabilities (GAO-18-258)*. U.S. Government Accountability Office. https://www.gao.gov/assets/gao-18-258.pdf
- Office for Civil Rights. (June 2021). 2017-2018 *Civil Rights Data Collection*.

 https://civilrightsdata.ed.gov/assets/downloads/crdc-exclusionary-school-discipline.pdf
- Office of Compulsory School Attendance Enforcement. (2019). *Alternative Education Support Manual*.
 - https://www.mdek12.org/sites/default/files/documents/OAE/OCSA/ms-

alternative-ed-2019.pdf

- Okonofua, J. A., & Eberhardt, J. L. (2015). Two strikes: Race and the disciplining of young students. *Psychological Science*, 26(5), 617–624. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797615570365
- Okonofua, J. A., Paunesku, D., & Walton, G. M. (2016). A brief intervention to encourage empathetic discipline halves suspension rates among adolescents. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.

 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1523698113
- Padilla-Díaz, M. (2015). Phenomenology in educational qualitative research: Philosophy as science or philosophical science. *International Journal of Educational Excellence*, *1*(2), 101-110.

 https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/1c75/935d3682047beb9723ce467a136b8456e794
 https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/1c75/935d3682047beb9723ce467a136b8456e794
- Peterson, R. L., O'Connor, A., & Strawhun, J. (2014). Academic Supports & Tutoring. http://dx.doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.5042.6965
- Petrilli, M. J. (2017). In search of common ground on school discipline reform.

 https://fordhaminstitute.org/national/commentary/search-common-ground-school-discipline-reform
- Quereshi, A., & Okonfua, J. (2017). Locked out of the classroom: How implicit bias contributes to disparities in school discipline. NAACP Legal Defense & Educational Fund. https://www.naacpldf.org/files/about-us/Bias_Reportv2017_30_11_FINAL.pdf

- Ramey, D. M. (2016). The influence of early school punishment and therapy/medication on social control experiences during young adulthood [Abstract]. *Criminology* 54(1), 113-141. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1111/1745-9125.12095
- Reardon, S. F. (2016). School segregation and racial academic achievement gaps *RSF: The Russell Stage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences*, 2(5), 34-57.

 https://doi.org/10.7758/rsf.2016.2.5.03.
- Research Ethics. (n.d.). Walden University.

 https://academicguides.waldenu.edu/research-center/research-ethics
- Riddle, T., & Sinclair, S. (2019). Racial disparities in school-based disciplinary actions are associated with county-level rates of racial bias. *PNAS*, *116*(17), 8255-8260. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858419844613
- Richardson, S.C., Williams, J.A., & Lewis, C.W. (2019). Social Workers and Urban School Discipline: Do We Need a Time-Out? *Urban Social Work, 3*, 207 230. https://doi.org: 10.1891/2474-8684.3.2.207
- Rhim, L. M., & Kothari, S. (2018). Key Trends in Special Education in Charter Schools:

 A Secondary Analysis of the Civil Rights Data Collection [2013-2014]. *National Center for Special Education in Charter Schools*.

 https://www.centerforlearnerequity.org/report/crdc-analysis-15-16/
- Rosa, J., Keelan, K., & Kruegar, K. (2015). *Alternative to Zero Tolerance: Best Practice Summary*. Colorado Department of Education.

 https://digitalcommons.memphis.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3914&context=etd

- Scaletta, M., & Hughes, M. T. (2022). Administrators' Perception of Their Role in School-wide Positive Behavior Interventions and Supports Implementation.

 Journal of School Leadership, 32(3), 267-288.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1052684620972062
- School of Social Work Association of America. (n.d.). *SSWAA values*. https://aab82939-3e7b-497d-8f30-a85373757e29.filesusr.com/ugd/486e55_5f4b5bf7ff364791972e
 1764511ae2ab.pdf
- Schott Foundation. (n.d.). *Restorative practices: A guide for educators*. http://schottfoundation.org/restorative-practices
- Siedlecki, S. L. (2020). Understanding descriptive research designs and methods. *Clinical Nurse Specialist*, 34(1), 8-12. https://doi.org/10.1097/NUR.00000000000000493
- Singer, E., & Couper, M. P. (2017). Some methodological uses of responses to open questions and other verbatim comments in quantitative survey. *Methods, Data, Analyses, 11*(2), 115-134. https://doi.org/10.127758/mda.2017.01
- Steinberg, M. P., & Lacoe, J. (2017). The academic and behavioral consequences of discipline policy reform: Evidence from Philadelphia. *Thomas Fordham Institute*. http://nepc.colorado.edu/thinktank/review-discipline-reform.unl.edu/zero-tolerance.
- Sunday, J. (2017). Systems theory: An approach to mass-damper-spring and mass-nondamper-spring systems. *General Letters in Mathematic* 3(3), p 169-176. http://www.refaad.com
- Teasley, M. L. (2018). A renewed commitment for leadership in school social work

- practice. Children & Schools, 40(2), 67-69. https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/cdy008
- Teasley, M. L., McRoy, R. G., Joyner, M., Armour, M., Gourdine, R. M., & Crewe, S. E. (2017). Increasing success for Black children and youth. Grand challenges for social work initiative (Working Paper No. 21). *American Academy of Social Work & Social Welfare*. https://grandchallengesforsocialwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/WP21.pdf
- Then, K., Rankin, J., Ali, E. (2014). Focus group research: What is it and how can it be used? *Canadian Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 24(1), 16-22. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24660275/
- University of Virginia. (n. d.). *How can I add an audio transcript to my zoom recording?*https://uvacollab.screenstepslive.com/s/help/m/integrations/l/1075541-how-can-i-add-an-audio-transcript-to-my-zoom-recording
- University of Washington. (2023, January 30). What is Excel?

 https://itconnect.uw.edu/tools-services-support/teaching-learning/workshops/online-tutorials/microsoft-office-365/microsoft-excel-2010/
- Vaismoradi, M., Jones, J., & Turunen, H. (2016). Theme development in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Journal of Nursing Education and Practice* 6(5). https://doi.org/100–110.10.5430/jnep.v6n5p100
- Weinbaum, C., Landree, E., Blumenthal, M. S., Piquado, T., & Gutierrez, C. I. (2019).

 Ethics in scientific Research. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation.

 https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/research_reports/RR2900/RR2912/RAND_RR2912.pdf

- Whitaker, A., Torres-Guillen, S., Aclu, M. M., & Coyle, S. (2019). Cops and no counselors. How the lack of school mental workers as policy actors in the twenty-first century. American Civil Liberties Union.

 https://www.aclu.org/sites/default/files/field_document/030419-acluschooldisciplinereport.pdf
- Williams, C. (2020). Black lives matter: How exclusionary discipline harms black and brown students. https://www.csas.co/black-lives-matter-exclusionary-discipline-can-do-more-harm-than-good-for-black-and-brown-students-lets-focus-on-the-solutions/
- Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction. (n.d.). School social work practice guide; School social work roles.

https://dpi.wi.gov/sites/default/files/imce/sspw/pdf/sswpgroles.pdf

Young, J. C., Rose, D. C., Mumby, H. S., Benitez-Capistros, F., Derrick, C. J., Finch, T.,
Garcia, C., Home, C., Marwaha, E., Morgans, C., Parkinson, S., Shah, J., Wilson,
K. A., & Mukherjee, N. (2018). A methodological guide to using and reporting on interviews in conservation science research. *Methods Ecological Evolution*, 9(1),
10-19. HTTPS:// 10.1111/2041-2108.12828

Appendix A: Background Survey

1. What was your major during your undergraduate studies?

	a. Education
	b. Social Work
	c. Other
2.	How long have you been in the field of education?
	a. 0-3 years
	b. 4-7 years
	c. 8-11 years
	d. 12+ years
3.	What is your current title?
	a. Teacher
	b. Social Worker
4.	How long have you been at your current school?
	a. 0-3 years
	b. 4-7 years
	c. 8-11 years
	d. 12+ years

- 5. Which definition mostly aligns with your understanding of exclusionary discipline?
 - a. Any disciplinary practice that isolates students. from their classroom environment, includes in-school suspension, out- of-school suspension, and expulsion.
 - removal from any usual learning environment. In many cases,
 exclusionary discipline is the result of developmentally typical behavior,
 such as restlessness, that is deemed inappropriate by subjective judgement.
 - taking students out of the classroom and denying them access to instruction and school-based supports and services.
- 6. What is your highest level of education completed?
 - a. Baccalaureate
 - b. Masters
 - c. Specialist
 - d. Doctorate

Appendix B: Social Worker Interview Protocol

Social Worker Interview Questionnaire

Introduction

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this interview. Research indicates that Black males receive out-of-school suspensions and expulsions at a higher rate than Caucasian males. However, PBIS has been researched as an effective strategy for impacting exclusion. I am interviewing you to understand overall, your perspective of the impact of PBIS with Black males in the high school setting.

Participation in this research study is voluntary. Therefore, your participation or decision not to participate will not have any effect on your role as a social worker in the school system. I know that you initially completed a consent form. However, I want to take this time to inform you of your rights. This interview will be recorded via zoom. But the recording and any information related to your identity included in the report will be kept confidential and your identity will not be shared with anyone. You have the right not to answer any questions and stop the interview for any reason. Do you have any questions? This interview should take about 30 minutes. Is it ok for me to start the zoom meeting?

- 1. What does your practice look like daily?
- 2. What is your perspective of how the school uses your skills?
- 3. What roles have school administrators allowed you to have in discipline policies and procedures at the district level?
- 4. What role if any, did you have with discipline and Black males at the school site level?

- 5. What barriers if any have you encountered working with school administrators in discipline with Black male students?
- 6. What involvement, if any, have you had with working with PBIS?
- 7. What barriers, if any, have you had while working with PBIS interventions?
- 8. How are students referred to the school social worker for social work services?
- 9. From your perspective, what impact has the social work role had on Black males being suspended or expelled from high school?
- 10. Overall, what is your perspective of the impact of PBIS with Black males in the high school setting?

Thank you for participating in the interview. I appreciate you volunteering your time and sharing your experiences, beliefs, and perspectives.

Appendix C: Teacher Interview Protocol

Teacher Interview Guide

Introduction

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this interview. Research indicates that Black males receive out-of-school suspensions and expulsions at a higher rate than Caucasian males. However, PBIS has been researched as an effective strategy for impacting exclusion. I am interviewing you to understand overall, your understanding of social workers' role regarding their impact of PBIS with Black males in the high school setting. Participation in this research study is voluntary. Therefore, your participation or decision not to participate will not have any effect on your role as a teacher in the school system. I know that you initially completed a consent form. However, I want to take this time to inform you of your rights. This interview will be recorded via zoom. But the recording and any information related to your identity included in the report will be kept confidential and your identity will not be shared with anyone. You have the right not to answer any questions and stop the interview for any reason. Do you have any questions? This interview should take about 30 minutes. Is it ok for me to start the zoom meeting? Questions

- 1. How do you view the role of social workers on a high school campus?
- 2. What type of work do you observe social workers perform on the high school campus?
- 3. What is your perspective of the implementation of PBIS on your school's campus?

- 4. What do you view as a barrier to implementation of PBIS, with fidelity, on the high school campus you work?
- 5. What impact do you believe PBIS has had on Black males being suspended or expelled from high school?
- 6. Are Tier 2 and 3 PBIS interventions being implemented with fidelity with Black male students on the high school campus? How do you know?
- 7. How do you feel the social work role has impacted PBIS implementation with Black males?
- 8. What is your perspective of the impact of PBIS with Black males in the high school setting?
- 9. What if any, is the correlation, between exclusionary discipline and the social worker's role?
- 10. Is there any additional information you would like to share regarding exclusionary discipline and Black males?

Thank you for your time and the information that you provided.